Enhanced Lycopene Extraction from Tomato Processing Residue Using Oil-in-Water Emulsions

July 2022

KUBRA KHADIZATUL

Enhanced Lycopene Extraction from Tomato Processing Residue Using Oil-in-Water Emulsions

A Dissertation Submitted to

the Graduate School of Life and Environmental Sciences,

the University of Tsukuba

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Agricultural Science

(Doctoral Program in Appropriate Technology and Sciences for Sustainable Development)

KUBRA KHADIZATUL

Abstract

Tomato is one of the most important crops worldwide. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the total global production of tomatoes was approximately 180 million ton in 2018. Forty million ton of tomatoes are processed as juice or paste. Generally, tomato processing residue is produced during processing these products, which consists mainly of peels and seeds. In these circumstances, the total estimated amount of tomato processing residue in the world is 5.4×10^6 ton. Tomato is very rich in the natural antioxidant compounds lycopene (5 mg/g). Tomato peels and seeds hold the greatest quantity of lycopene (588 µg/g). However, tomato processing residue can potentially be considered an interesting source of lycopene. The purpose of this research was to extract lycopene from tomato processing residue using an organic solvent, triglyceride, fatty acid, and oil-in-water (O/W) emulsion with or without an emulsifier. The effects of different temperature and time on lycopene recovery and the chemical stability of lycopene in the extract was also evaluated.

Two types of O/W emulsions were used for emulsion-assisted extraction: (a) O/W emulsion with or (b) without 0.1% (w/w) of saponin as a natural emulsifier. This environment-friendly extraction method was compared with the conventional method using an organic solvent, triglyceride, and fatty acid.

Lauric acid-based O/W emulsion without emulsifier resulted in the highest lycopene recovery 73% (Initial lycopene content: 588 μ g/g). Moreover, lauric acid-based O/W emulsion extraction enhanced lycopene recovery two times higher compared to organic solvent triglycerides, respectively. Oil-in-water (O/W) emulsion consists of a large amount of a protic solvent water, which can both donate and absorb hydrogen bonds. This activity may assist to swell the tomato residue's cell wall and promote lycopene recovery. This is because three solvent characteristics

have a significant impact on the swelling process: basicity, hydrogen bonding ability, and molar volume. The high polarity and hydrogen bonding ability of solvent molecules also help the substance to swell. Therefore, high polarity (12.04 MPa $^{0.5}$) and hydrogen bonding ability (31.17 MPa $^{0.5}$) of lauric acid-based O/W emulsion helps to penetrate the plant matrix, which enhances lycopene recovery compared to hexane and soybean oil. On the other hand, the use of natural emulsifier saponin for preparing the O/W emulsion reduced the lycopene recovery compared to without an emulsifier. The decrease in lycopene recovery might be linked to the creation of a physical barrier at the droplets' interface, preventing lycopene from penetrating into the triglycerides, or fatty acid droplets' core. On the other hand, 77% lycopene recovery with lauric acid O/W emulsion was investigated at 50 °C at 2 h extraction. Moreover, lycopene in the lauric acid extract was stable until 6 days of storage at 5 °C.

In this study, O/W emulsion without an emulsifier was efficient to enhance lycopene recovery. Moreover, an emulsifier may inhibit lycopene from partitioning into triglycerides and fatty acids. Lauric acid shows the highest recovery as a non-toxic and green solvent compared to other solvents. Furthermore, a lauric acid-based O/W emulsion has the considerable benefit of being able to be used directly as a food additive once developed with the recovered lycopene.

contents
(

Chapter 1: General introduction(1)
1.1 Tomato(2)
1.2 Processing of tomato(3)
1.3 Tomato processing residue(3)
1.4 Sustainable applications of tomato processing residue(4)
1.5 Chemical composition of tomato processing residue(6)
1.6 Carotenoids in tomato processing residue(6)
1.6.1 Lycopene(7)
1.6.2 Lycopene biosynthesis in plant cells(8)
1.6.3 Physical and chemical properties of lycopene(9)
1.6.4 Health benefit of lycopene(11)
1.6.5 Extraction of lycopene(12)
1.6.5.1 Solvent extraction(12)
1.6.5.2 Ultrasound-assisted extraction (13)
1.6.5.3 Microwave-assisted extraction(13)
1.6.5.4 Supercritical fluid extraction(14)
1.6.5.5 Chemical method - production with microemulsion(15)
1.7 Emulsions(15)
1.8 Objectives of this research(17)

Chapter 2: Lycopene extraction from tomato processing residue using organic solvents,
triglycerides, fatty acids and oil-in-water emulsion
2.1 Introduction(22)
2.2 Materials and Methods(25)
2.2.1 Materials(25)
2.2.2 Preparation of tomato processing residue powder(25)
2.2.3 Organic solvent extraction(25)
2.2.4 Fatty acids and triglycerides-based extraction(25)
2.2.5 Fatty acids and triglycerides-based Oil-in-water emulsion extraction(26)
2.2.6 Lycopene measurement(26)
2.2.7 Lycopene recovery
2.2.8 Antioxidant activity(27)
2.2.9 Droplets size measurement(27)
2.2.10 Statistical analysis(28)
2.3 Results and discussion(29)
2.3.1 Effects of organic solvent extraction on lycopene recovery(29)
2.3.2 Effects of triglyceride-based extraction on lycopene recovery(31)
2.3.3 Effects of fatty acid-based extraction on lycopene recovery(32)
2.3.4 Effects of triglyceride-based O/W emulsion (without emulsifier) extraction on lycopene
recovery
2.3.5 Effects of fatty acid-based O/W emulsion (without emulsifier) extraction on lycopene
recovery

2.3.6 Effects of triglyceride-based O/W emulsion (with emulsifier) extraction on lycopene
recovery(36)
2.3.7 Effects of fatty acid-based O/W emulsion (with emulsifier) extraction on lycopene recovery
2.3.8 Possible mechanism of O/W emulsion extraction with or without emulsifier(38)
2.3.9 Antioxidant activity(40)
2.4 Conclusion(40)
Chapter 3: Effect of different extraction conditions of lycopene recovery and antioxidant
activity(61)
3.1 Introduction(62)
3.2 Material and methods(65)
3.2.1 Materials(65)
3.2.2 Preparation of tomato processing residue powder(65)
3.2.3 Total lycopene quantification(65)
3.2.4 O/W emulsion-assisted extraction(66)
3.2.5 Lycopene recovery(66)
3.2.6 Antioxidant activity
3.2.7 Statistical analysis(67)
3.3. Results and discussion(68)
3.3.1. Effects of temperature and time on lycopene recovery and antioxidant activity(68)
3.4 Conclusion
Chapter 4: Chemical stability of lycopene and antioxidant activity of extract(72)
4.1 Introduction

4.2. Materials and methods(77)
4.2.1 Materials(77)
4.2.2 Preparation of tomato processing residue powder(77)
4.2.3 O/W emulsion-assisted extraction(77)
4.2.4 Lycopene quantification(77)
4.2.5 Lycopene recovery(78)
4.2.6 Antioxidant activity(78)
4.2.7 Statistical analysis(79)
4.3 Result and discussion(80)
4.3.1 Chemical stability of lycopene and antioxidant activity(80)
4.4 Conclusion
Chapter 5: General conclusion and future prospects
5.1 General conclusion(85)
5.2 Future prospects
References(89)
List of publication(99)
Acknowledgments(100)

List of tables

Table 2.1 Hansen solubility parameters and molecular properties of organic solvents and lycopene.
Table 2.2 Triglycerides, fatty acids, and lycopene solubility characteristics
Table 2.3 Triglyceride and fatty acid-based O/W emulsion solubility characteristics with or
without of 0.1% (w/w) saponin emulsifier(42)

List of figures

Figure 1.1: Flow diagram of the tomato processing(18)
Figure 1.2: Chemical structure of lycopene(18)
Figure 1.3: Outlines of the thesis(19)
Figure 2.1: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using organic solvent extraction.
(43)
Figure 2.2: Effects of (a) solvent polarity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato
processing residue
Figure 2.3: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglycerides.
(45)
Figure 2.4: Effects of (a) viscosity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato
processing residue(46)
Figure 2.5: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acids.
(47)
Figure 2.6: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.
(48)
Figure 2.7: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglycerides-
based O/W emulsion extraction without emulsifier

Figure 2.8: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.
(50)
Figure 2.9: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acids-based
O/W emulsion extraction without emulsifier
Figure 2.10: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.
(52)
Figure 2.11: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglycerides-
based O/W emulsion extraction with emulsifier
Figure 2.12: Effects of (a) Viscosity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato
processing residue
Figure 2.13: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acids-
based O/W emulsion extraction with emulsifier(55)
Figure 2.14: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing
residue(56)
Figure 2.15: Possible mechanism of O/W emulsion extraction(57)
Figure 2.16: Droplet size distribution of O/W emulsion(58)
Figure 2.17: Extraction of antioxidant of tomato processing residue using (a) organic solvents, (b)
triglycerides and fatty acids, (c) triglycerides and fatty acids-based O/W emulsion
without emulsifier, and (d) triglyceride and fatty acid-based O/W emulsion with
emulsifier extraction methods(59)

Figure 3.1: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different (a) temperatures
and (b) time(69)
Figure 3.2: Antioxidant activity of soybean oil-based O/W emulsion extract of tomato processing
residue using different (a) temperatures and (b) time(70)
Figure 4.1: Chemical stability of lycopene in lauric acid O/W emulsion extract during storage.
Figure 4.2: Chemical stability of residual antioxidant activity in soybean oil O/W emulsion extract
during storage

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1 Tomato

Tomato is the edible fruit which is commonly known as a tomato plant. It belongs to the nightshade family. Various types of tomatoes are widely grown in temperate climates across the world. It grows as an annual in temperate areas but is a perennial in its natural environment. Tomatoes may also grow in greenhouses, enabling year-round production in milder climates. The plants normally reach a height of 1-3 meters. After the Spanish conquest of the Americas, it expanded around the world from its Mexican origins. Tomato is used in various cuisines, sauces, salads, and beverages in a variety of forms, including raw. It is considered culinary vegetables, being ingredients of savory meals, while tomatoes are botanically berry-type fruits.

Moreover, for both commercial and domestic purposes, tomatoes are one of the most widely grown plants in the world and Food and Agriculture Organization mentioned that their global production reached 180 million tons in 2018. Its main production locations are mostly in the Northern Hemisphere. China is one of the largest producers, accounting for almost a 3rd of world output, followed by India, Turkey and the United States (Gauld, 1992).

Tomatoes are consumed fresh, cooked, sun-dried, or pickled in the domestic. At the food business level, 40 million ton of tomatoes are handled every year, with consumption predicted to approach 50 million tons by 2025. Tomato juice, Canned tomatoes, paste, tomato soup, puree, ketchup, , dehydrated pulp and dried tomatoes are all commercial products. However, industrial tomato processing produces a significant amount of processing residue, which accounts for around 5% of the processed tomatoes by weight and generates almost 4 million ton of organic materials. Tomato peels and seeds, as well as a tiny proportion of pulp remnants, comprise "tomato processing residue." Tomato processing residue is considered a concern for the tomato business since it has little economic value and is, in most circumstances, underused, dumped as trash, or used to a limited level as animal feed. However, if properly treated, tomato processing residue may be a rich source of nutrients, bioactive compounds, and important phytochemicals including carotenoids, phenolic compounds, and lycopene. (Domínguez et al., 2020).

1.2 Processing of tomato

The tomato (Solanum Lycopersicon), which currently ranks in regard to production as well as in terms of operation, is the second most eaten fruit or vegetable. In households, the food industry, and restaurants, fresh or processed tomatoes or fresh are frequently utilized. Around 40 million tons of tomatoes are processed annually in the worldwide tomato processing sector. Sauce, ketchup, juice Paste, and diced canned and whole peeled tomatoes are the most popular processed tomato products (Figure 1.1). The mass of the tomatoes used in manufacturing are turned into a large volume paste; the remainder is used to make diced or whole peeled tomato products. (Knoblich et al., 2005).

1.3 Tomato processing residue

The tomato industry has a severe problem with tomato processing residue, which includes both solid and liquid pollutants. Clean-up water, cooling water, chemical peel water and peeling solutions, wash waters, , and are examples of solid wastes, as opposed to liquid wastes, which involves clean-up waters, peel water and chemical peeling solutions, cooling water, and wash waters. Tomato seeds comprise around ten percent of the fruit, while they account for 50 to 55% of the residue. The quantity of tomato processing residue manufactured yearly varies depending on the qualities of the tomatoes and the processing circumstances, and varies from 5% to 13% of the total mass of the tomatoes, with thousands to 2 million ton of waste product discarded away (Knoblich et al., 2005). Culled tomato, tomato seeds cake and leaves are examples of other tomato processing residue. Culled tomatoes are vegetables that don't live up to match customer expectations owing to imperfections in appearance (color, size, shape, etc.). Roughly 2% of the harvest is eliminated as tomato. Seed cake of tomato is a good source of riboflavin, calcium, proteins, phosphorus and magnesium. It is formed after the lipid from tomato fruits is extracted. Tomato processing waste is now valued by being used as a component in animal feed stuffs or as pesticide as well as being disposed of in hills (Tsatsaronis & Boskou, 1975). The oil industry uses only a small portion of the seeds. The tomato processing sector has substantial economic and environmental challenges regarding the disposal of this residue. Because tomato processing residue contains magnificent substances such as dietary fibers, carbohydrates, phenolic compounds, fatty acids, and proteins that stimulate social wellbeing The fruit industry is working to solve this issue by creating a system that effectively manages output in aspects of reuse and utilization (Gould et al, 1992). Lycopene is the most studied of the minor tomato processing residue components due to its possible health advantages.

1.4 Sustainable applications of tomato processing residue

Different approaches for the long-term use of tomato processing residue have been presented and detailed in the following paragraphs, based on the economic concept provided by the European Commission. According to this perspective, natural elements from the water and soil should be utilized as inputs to the manufacturing of food and nutrition in advanced nations as well as industrial and energy production. In addition, for the creation of sustainable products, the manufacturing should be dependent on the usage of biodegradable resources. Thus, such long-term use of vegetables/fruits waste for the extraction of valuable compound with potential uses in the agriculture, nutrition, biotechnology, and pharmaceutical sectors might aid in addressing 21st-century societal concerns (Pinela et al., 2017).

Foods made with wheat flour have the most potential for incorporating tomato processing residue and its components. Protein, dietary fiber, and lycopene levels have all increased in all relevant studies. Furthermore, adding up to 10% tomato processing residue powder to bread did not have any negative effects on its acceptance. However, because of the lower gluten levels, the majority of quasi flours, a reduction in sample capacity is predicted. Other findings revealed that incorporating 5% wt tomato processing residue powder into cookies had no significant influence on overall cookie attractiveness scores, however, tomato processing residue concentrations up to 25% wt had a negative effect. The presence of furostanol saponin in tomato processing residue induced an increase in bitterness in crackers containing tomato processing residue powder. The results demonstrate that incorporating tomato processing waste into meals based on flour is possible, although the impacts are reliant on the amount of tomato processing residue used and the overall composition of the items (Lu et al., 2019).

Additionally, tomato processing residue has been found in meat items including ham, sausages, and hamburgers. Because tomato processing residue may be a natural colorant, the resultant products were not only high in antioxidants and nutritional composition but also had a further attractive brightness. Additionally, tomato processing residue filaments can alter every morphological aspects; tomato peel pectin can boost midst, while lignin and cellulose impact flexibility and stability, causing in greater stringy (Lu et al., 2019). Finally, using tomato processing waste as a component of tomato paste is highly suggested. Up to 2% weight of powdered and dried tomato processing residue may be added to paste of tomato. The flavor and expansion of the produced paste of tomato are not negotiated or destructively impacted, according to relevant research, and are equivalent to commercial tomato paste. Higher β -carotene and lycopene concentration in final products is also possible (Lu et al., 2019). Because of the extra

group functioning (e.g., crushing, dehydrating) necessary for its preparedness, tomato processing residue is underused as food components, yet has a significant amount of nutrients and excellent in general features. Even though the preliminary findings are very positive, additional effort is needed to develop new products or adjust current systems, in addition to assess the expenses of the procedure and customer perceptions (Lu et al., 2019).

Investigation and improvement concentrating on developing unique and goods with a high level of value, particularly naturopathic remedies and medicines, are also part of upcoming approaches and initiatives for the use of tomato processing residue. Furthermore, compost made from tomato processing residue is seen as a viable organic waste management alternative because of its availability and capacity to build up ground properties and vegetable development. Additional possibility is the bioconversion of tomato processing residue into sustainable renewables that may be either aqueous or vapor, like bioenergy and biofuel. Bioenergy is a potential, inexhaustible, and long-term energy source that can meet growing energy demands while also addressing the depletion of natural gas. Finally, lipase agents are created in solid-state fermentation from tomato processing residue (Lu et al., 2019).

1.5 Chemical composition of tomato processing residue

Peels and seeds make up the majority of tomato processing residue. On a dry matter basis, dietary fibers are the most abundant components in tomato processing waste (25 to 59 %). Overall proteins extend from 15% to 33%, carbs from 3% to 43%, overall lipid from 2% to 20%, and ash from 3% to 6%.

1.6 Carotenoids in tomato processing residue

Carotenoids, which make up around 272 to 554 μ g/g of tomato processing residue, are also bioactive compounds (Luengo et al., 2014). Zeaxanthin, lycopene, lutein, cis- β -carotene, and β -

carotene are the primary carotenoids found in tomato processing residue. Tomato processing residue also has a high level of scavenging activity (0.68 to 2.2 mM Trolox/100g). Carotenoids, such as lycopene, are abundant in tomato peels (Knoblich et al., 2005). Because of the high sodium concentration, tomato processing residue cannot be used in animal feed diets (Knoblich et al., 2005).

1.6.1 Lycopene

Lycopene is a lipophilic insoluble compound in water, which is responsible for the characteristic red color of a tomato, watermelon, papaya, pink grapefruit, and pink guava (Figure 1.2). Lycopene considers a hydrocarbon, is sensitive to the effects of heat and is more bioavailable from both processed and cooked tomato products than from fresh tomatoes (Gartner et al., 1997). In the human diet, the consumption of tomato and its derivates constitutes the major source of dietary lycopene compounds (Rao et al., 1998). As a natural antioxidant, this pigment has gotten a lot of interest because of its biological and physiochemical features. Dietary intakes of tomatoes and tomato products consisting of lycopene have been shown in cell culture, animal, and epidemiological investigations to be associated with a decreased risk of chronic diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular disease. Furthermore, serum and tissue lycopene levels have been contrary correlated with the risk of lung and prostate cancers (Heber et al, 2002). In fresh tomatoes, lycopene is mostly found in an all-transform. (Nguyen et al., 2001). Because of the increased energy input, all-trans isomers are synthesized into cis-isomers undergoing isomerization. The bioavailability of lycopene is determined by many factors including isomerization (Nguyen et al., 2001). According to several studies, the cis-isomers of lycopene are better absorbed than the alltrans form. (Boileau et al., 2002). Lycopene concentrations in different types of fruit may depend on several factors including genotype, environmental conditions such as temperature and light,

culture technique management (crop management, fertilizer use, or mineral nutrition and irrigation), as well as fruit and plant phenological stage (growth regulators and ripening stage). Particularly in lycopene, the genotype can prominence the carotenoid content and following discoveries in the medical field about the health benefits of lycopene, some seed companies have received several hybrids to the market, with a lycopene content of up to 188 μ g/g (Siviero et al., 2002). Even though, the lycopene production in the tomato fruit is still too low to fully compete with chemical synthesis alternatives (Levin et al., 2004). The highest lycopene content was found in pear types of tomatoes. Pear types of tomatoes contain nearly 500-700 µg/g of lycopene. Tomatoes production in an open field has higher lycopene contents as well as total carotenoids and truss color parameters (tone, brightness, and intensity) than those of fruit produced under protected conditions. In the same way, spring or summer produce has a higher amount than that autumn or winter. Vitamin C content is also suitable to increase the lycopene content according to technical culture practices. Low hydric stress results in the increase in the lycopene content on the tomato truss, as well as that of the ascorbate, generally as a consequence of the reduction in the water content of fruit in stressed plants.

1.6.2 Lycopene biosynthesis in plant cells

Lycopene can be found among the thylakoid membranes in the photosynthetic pigmentprotein complex and localized in the chloroplasts of tomato fruits (Bouvier et al., 1998). In the early phases of tomato fruit development, green chlorophyll is the dominant pigment in the chloroplasts. The hue shifts from greenish to white when the chlorophyll deteriorates. Lycopene is biosynthesized with the ultra-structure of the fruit when chlorophyll in the chloroplasts is reduced, resulting in the color shift from white to red. (Harris et al, 1970). The creation of lycopene crystals occurs during the termination of chromoplast development. This lycopene crystal absorbs a significant amount of chromoplast and appears as voluminous reddish pieces in the chromoplasts (Laval et al, 1974). Lycopene intensities are highest in the peels. (Simpson et al., 1977). Using 14C tracers, researchers have studied the biosynthesis of other carotenoids and lycopene in tomatoes prominently. (Porter et al, 1967). To generate lycopene, mevalonic acid is transformed progressively, with a loss of hydrogen at every level. Each step most likely includes dehydrogenation. Small globules of lycopene form in the chromoplasts, that are immersed in the fruit's whole tomato flesh composition. In the form of crystalline microspheres, lycopene gives tomatoes their distinctively vibrant red color by emitting light.

1.6.3 Physical and chemical properties of lycopene

In ripe tomato fruits, lycopene precedes the form of elongated, needle-like crystals that are bound for the typical bright-red color of ripe tomato fruits. Lycopene is generally soluble in chloroform, benzene, and other organic solvents than in water. Lycopene is an acyclic, open-chain, unsaturated carotenoid having heterocyclic molecule with 13 doubling bonds, 11 of which are linked double bonds arranged in a linear array. Its chemical structure is $C_{40}H_{56}$. The resting methyl groups are at the 1,5-position relative to each other, whereas the two central methyl groups are in the 1,6 positions. A chromatophore with varying lengths was created from a string of ring structure. Lycopene has a special structure that is made up of a radical improvement of ring structure, which gives it its redness and antioxidant effects. Lycopene's widely conjugated polyene structure is what gives it its deep red hue. Seven of these bonds, which are all trans in nature, can isomerize into mono or poly-cis forms under the effects of light, heat, or specific chemical interactions. Lycopene usually appears in an all-trans type. Since lycopene possesses a β -ionone ring structure, it has no pro-vitamin A action. Hill et al. (1969) discovered how chloroplasts transform lycopene to β -carotene. With specific reference to the characteristics of optical emission

in various structural features, isomeric form types of lycopene were differentiated (Zechmeister et al, 1962). Additionally, lycopene is extremely sensitive to heat, light, air, acids that are degrading it, and certain metallic ions such as Cu²⁺, and Fe³⁺ catalyze its oxidation. Lycopene is one of the natural carotenoids' most potent singlet oxygen quenchers. (Conn et al., 1991). The quenching rate constants (K_q) of different carotenoid species vary significantly. The opening of the β -ionone ring enhances the quenching capacity of lycopene, γ -carotene, and β -carotene, according to a comparison of their structures. The antioxidant capabilities of lycopene and other carotenoids are indicated by their capacity to capture peroxyl radicals and quench singlet oxygen. The quantity of conjugated double bonds in carotenoid species determines their quenching activity, which is influenced to a lesser extent by carotenoid end groups or the type of substituents in carotenoids with cyclic end groups. (Stahl et al., 1993). There are geometric shapes isomers of lycopene, such as poly-cis, all-trans, and mono-cis. The most important geometrical derivative of lycopene in fresh tomatoes is the all-trans isomer which is also the most thermodynamically stable form. During tomato preparation and storage, however, lycopene can undergo trans-to-cis isomerization. The all-trans isoform makes about 35 to 96 % lycopene in varied tomato-based cuisines (Schierle et al., 1996). Using NMR spectroscopy, 15-cis, 9-cis, and 5-cis t subtypes of lycopene in diverse tomato-centered diets and physiological cells were determined. In tomato-based foods, the percentage of 5-cis-isomer ranged from 4 to 27%, whereas the number of other isomers is remarkably lower than 5-cis-isomer (Schierle et al., 1996). In human blood and tissue, the cisisomers of lycopene account for more than 50% of the total lycopene. (Krinsky et al., 1990). Cistypes have a higher polarity than all-trans isomers and because of their kinked shapes, cis-isomers are less committed to crystallization. The solubility of the cis-isomers in oil and hydrocarbon solvents is also higher than all-trans types. In comparison to all trans-isomers, the performance of

bioactive components of cis-isomers is supplanted by structural morphology modifications. most uniform investigation on lycopene in food systems concern degradation. Lycopene may be partially divested in processed tomato products by heating in the presence of metallic ions (Cu^{2+} , Fe³⁺, etc.) or oxygen. Lycopene, being a conjugated polyene, is known to encounter at least two transfers, namely, isomerization and degradation, during the preparation of tomatoes, Both in tomato products and pure, lycopene isomerization occurs during processing. The conversion from cis-isomer to trans-form, on the other hand, is a process that could emerge when a commodity is stored. While trans-isomers are in the secure initial state, cis-isomers are in a state that is volatile. Lycopene, as an effective antioxidant, inhibits the formation of extremely reactive singlet oxygen $(O_2 \cdot -)$ and captures peroxyl radicals (ROO.). Interactions between lycopene and oxygen radicals may be studied as second-order rate reactions. Lycopene is less dynamic and the transmission of an electron can be detected in both directions (Conn et al., 1992). It is also available to form peroxyl radicals capable of acting as a pro-oxidant and undergoes autoxidation. The two primary types of interactions that seem to explain oxygen functionalities are the formation to a carboncarbon double bonding and the displacement of a methyl or methylene group. At both ends of the typical C40-carbon framework, in particular, oxidative breakdown is possible. Lycopene is insoluble in water and solubility in oil at 20 °C ranged between 70-80 µg/g and the vegetable oils with extracted lycopene could be used for the creation of functional food with natural lycopene.

1.6.4 Health benefits of lycopene

Lycopene is a powerful antioxidant, which has lots of health benefits. Antioxidants are very important for many reasons, especially in a world where processed food has eradicated most of what gives the body the ability to prevent and fight disease. Lycopene is an antioxidant that might as well be worth its weight in gold for the incredible things from which it protects our body. Consumption of a diet rich in tomatoes has been corresponding with decreased risk for several chronic diseases, including heart disease and cancer, specifically prostate cancer, and this decreased risk is often associated with lycopene Processed tomato products are a worldwide commodity that yielded over 210 million ton in 2012 (FAOSTAT, 2012). For an adult, recommended daily intake of lycopene is 5-10 mg/day. Lycopene has been conversely related to the risk of prostate cancer in studies conducted in North America (Giovannucci et al, 1999), as well as to other cancer events in several studies from North America, Europe, China, and Japan (Giovannucci et al, 1999). Lycopene can regulate the pathogenesis of cancer and cardiovascular disease.

1.6.5 Extraction of lycopene

Food processing by-products are increasingly being used as a source of functional food components. Lycopene is typically stable in tomato matrices following modest heat treatments, according to the literature. However, degradation and isomerization may occur quickly under intensive processing conditions or when lycopene is dissolved in oil or chemical solvents (Colle et al., 2010). The extraction of lycopene can be done in several different ways.

1.6.5.1 Solvent extraction

The most used technique for lycopene extraction is solvent extraction. But using organic hazardous solvents like n-hexane, acetone, ethyl acetate and ethanol comes with a number of issues, including toxic effects, solvent residue in the final result, and management difficulties (Eh and Teoh 2012).

1.6.5.2 Ultrasound-assisted extraction

Ultrasound is an effective extraction technique that encourages mass transfer by pretending on the unit to destroy the membrane and cell matrix. It may cause a variety of effects in a solvent, including hydroxyl electrons, the heat effect, and bubbling (Kumcuoglu, Yilmaz, & Tavman, 2014). UAE was recognized as a cost-effective, efficient in terms of time, resource, and chemicals extraction process. Similar to organic solvents, such as ethanol, hexane and acetone, commonly assisted in extracting lycopene. The effects followed the order: ethyl ether < ethyl acetate <<hexane <CH₂C₁₂ (Wu, Shen, Yin, & Cheng, 2017). Yasmini, Silva, Ferreira, Celli, and Brooks (2018) were able to extract lycopene (1330 μ g/g) using UAE from tomatoby products with ethyl acetate: ethyl lactate (3:7) (7:3), which is comparatively higher than organic solvent by 10%. Although plant-based oil did not affect lycopene removal, it improved bio-accessibility (Anese, Bot, Panozzo, Mirolo, & Lippe, 2015). Polymer electrolytes and polar aprotic solvents were also popular in the Ultrasound-assisted extraction. Significantly, due to their superior qualities, they may be able to eradicate the detrimental impacts of organic solvents on the environment. (Martins & de Rosso, 2016) With sufficient intervals, pulsed ultrasound is more efficient than continuous ultrasonication due to the absorption and dispersion of the ultrasound wave caused by the ongoing formation of dewatering droplets in the steady state. UAE's ultrasonic power and duration were consistently between 10-50 min and 50–200 W, approximately indicating that it was a viable approach for lycopene extraction when compared to SE.

1.6.5.3 Microwave-assisted extraction

In microwave-assisted extraction, microwave radiation has the potential to destroy or inactivate the cell wall. Microwave-induced molecular resonance the cell of vegetation might cause in a local maximum heat, which could compromise cell integrity and encourage cellular chemical transfer. 135.9 μ g/g of trans-type lycopene was obtained from tomato by Ho, Ferruzzi, Liceaga, and San Martín-Gonz'alez (2015) at 24 kJ, 400 W, 1:20 g/mL, counterparts for 60 s with ethyl acetate, contrasted to the ~40 μ g/g for 30 min of organic solvent extraction. Moreover, whereas the removal procedures did not influence the cis-lycopene content, they had a considerable impact on the cis/trans proportions and overall lycopene amount. With SE or microwave processing, Honda et al. (2018) obtained varying the amount of lycopene in dehydrated gac aril. Microwave pretreatment significantly boosted lycopene concentration in the press and ethanol groups at 20°C, while it decreased at 4°C in the class of acetone among all extractions, the lycopene content, as well as Z-isomers, was greatest at 1 min and 1050 W using pressure removals.

1.6.5.4 Supercritical fluid extraction

This extraction methods were widely used in lycopene removal from a variety of vegetations, together with tomatoes, guava, pitanga pulp, and watermelon because of the effective and sustainable liquid (Zuknik, Nik Norulaini, & Mohd Omar, 2012). Because solubility altered fast near the critical point of supercritical fluid, SFE may liquefy or expel the electrolyte quickly. SFE's moderate temperature was typically favorable for the preservation of lycopene (the minimum range of CO₂, for instance, was 31 °C). The majority of studies utilized CO₂ as a diluent and fine-tuned removal constraints such as heat, pressure, fluid stream speed and duration. Lycopene extraction can be done in a number of ways including from tomato processing by-products (1 L/min, 50 MPa, 80 °C and 0.358 $\mu g/g$, (Hatamib, Angela, Meirelesb, & N. Ciftcia, 2019), Furthermore, modifiers for instance dichloromethane, hexane, acetone, methanol and ethanol, might have a substantial impact on the process, with acetone behaving the best. Vegetable oils that are co-solvents, such as canola oil and hazelnut oil may increase lycopene improvement

and permanence due to their lipid solubility (Bruno et al., 2018). Due to polarity and matrix alteration, the solubility altered with, force, heat and the addition of ethanol or oil as a co-solvent.

1.6.5.5 Chemical method - production with microemulsion

The lipophilic/hydrophilic chemicals in the solvent might be taken up via microemulsion, which could produce stable dispersions. Surfactants and co-surfactant were often employed to improve implementation by lowering the atomic interaction of light (Amiri-Rigi & Abbasi, 2016). The microemulsion process was influenced differentially by the emulsifier lecithin, Tween 20, sucrose monopalmitate span 20, saponin, Tween 80, Tween 60, rhamnolipid, and rhamnolipid, with saponin performing best, SMP second, and lecithin last; also, Co-surfactants may have an impact on the procedure (ethanol with one hydroxyl group, propylene glycol with two, and glycerol with three, correspondingly), although not the same as strongly as emulsifier. (Amiri-Rigi & Abbasi, 2016, 2017). To increase efficiency, microemulsion employed environmentally friendly emulsifier rather than natural solvents, avoiding environmental risk (Kirkhus et al., 2019). More crucially, because the ability of emulsions might be modified with adding emulsifiers and co-emulsifiers, it was readily increased and managed. Furthermore, lower interfacial tension might increase the solubility of lipophilic compounds in fluid, lowering the need for organic solvents.

1.7 Emulsions

Emulsions typically contain a minimum of one insoluble liquid that is disseminated into a different liquid in the form of small droplets with the aid of an emulsifier. Emulsion droplets display all the classical behaviors of metastable colloids: Brownian motion, reversible phase transitions as a result of droplet interactions that may be completely adjusted, and irreversible transitions that generally contain their destruction. They are received by shearing two immiscible fluids to accelerate the fragmentation of one phase into the other. As a result, the lifetime of

emulsions may become important (more than a year), and they become good candidates for various commercial applications. double emulsions. A colloidal is a more generic category of different systems of substance that includes emulsions. Although the words colloidal and emulsion are occasionally used in opposition to one another, emulsion is the preferred term when the scattered and continuous phases are both fluids. Emulsifier is a term used to describe a material that equalizes an emulsion. Emulsion is well-known for its various application. Nowadays, emulsion is used to extract bioactive compounds. This procedure is regarded as an environment friendly extraction approach. Because the system has both hydrophilic and lipophilic regions, it may incorporate many bioactive substances (Roohinejad et al. 2014). Additionally, a significant portion of water, a protic solvent that can both contribute and absorb hydrogen bonds, is present in the oil-in-water (O/W) emulsion. This activity could contribute to tomato cell wall expansion and lycopene release. Three solvent characteristics-hydrogen bonding capability, basity and molar volume — have the most effects on the process of cell enlargement (Mantanis et al. 1994; Prusov et al. 2014). Additionally, a prior study revealed that the solvent's protic or aprotic character affects how the plant matrix expand (Fidale et al. 2008). This innovative extraction technique may contribute to lowering the amount of artificial and dangerous ingredients used in food, medicine, and beauty products while also improving their reliability and increasing consumer acceptance.

1.8 Objectives of this research

The general objective of this research is to the extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using O/W emulsion. In addition, the study was specifically aimed to:

- To investigate the lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue using organic solvents, triglycerides, fatty acids, and oil-in-water emulsions with or without of emulsifier and its antioxidant activity
- To investigate the effects of different extraction conditions on lycopene recovery and antioxidant activity
- ✤ To investigate the chemical stability of lycopene and antioxidant



Figure 1.1: Flow diagram of the tomato processing



Figure 1.2: Chemical structure of lycopene



Figure 1.3: Outlines of the thesis

Chapter 2

Lycopene extraction from tomato processing residue using organic solvents, triglycerides, fatty acids and oil-in-water emulsion

2.1 Introduction

Lycopene ($C_{40}H_{56}$) is a carotenoid that has hydrocarbon with 13 carbon-carbon double bonds, 11 of which are linearly oriented. Lycopene has a remarkable antioxidant impact due to its high degree of conjugation, creating it among the greatest effective radical scavengers. (Zuorro, 2020). It is very efficient in oxygen singlet quench $({}^{1}O_{2})$, a powerful oxidizing molecule that may damage lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids, among other biological components. (Amiri-Rigi and Abbasi, 2016). It has twice the power to quench singlet oxygen, according to prior studies, and is tenfold greater than the concentrations of α -tocopherol and β -carotene, correspondingly. (Deng et al., 2021). Furthermore, disease related research shows that it may aid in the prevention of brain diseases, diabetes, cancers and heart disease including Parkinson's, and Huntington's disease (Li et al., 2021; Zuorro, 2020). Because it is a potent radical scavenger lycopene assists in the decrease of oxidative distresses which are commonly linked to the development of the disorders mentioned. Furthermore, additional defense mechanisms than oxidative stress, such as lycopene's ability to limit cell growth, directly damage, and improve spacing intercellular connection between cells, might be closely associated. The aforementioned findings have raised demand for carotenoidbased skin care, therapeutic meals, and remedies. Thus, the lycopene industries have expanded significantly both in scale and quality (Deng et al., 2021).

Lycopene is prevalent in tomato as well as other red vegetables and fruits(Li et al., 2021). The majority of the organic lycopene is derived from tomato pericarp and by-products. Tomatoes are among highest sources of natural antioxidants, and they are frequently recognized as a dietary supplement with many physiological features that assist to reduce the incidence of cancers such as lung, prostate, stomach, and prostate (Eh and Teoh, 2012). Vitamin E, ascorbic acid, phenolic acids, flavonoids, and carotenoids are among the antioxidants found in them. Lycopene is a

carotenoid that gives tomatoes their rich red color. (Amiri-Rigi and Abbasi 2016). Many physical separation techniques of lycopene have previously been devised. Almost every method is economically unviable for extensive manufacturing. Solvent extraction is the most popular technique for lycopene extraction. Consequently, using volatile chemical liquids like ethyl acetate, acetone, , n-hexane, and ethanol, has quite a lot of problems, together with poisoning, solvent residues in the completed project, as well as dumping issues. (Eh and Teoh, 2012). There are some other lycopene extraction approaches, such as, microwave-based extraction, ultrasound-based extraction, enzyme-based extraction and supercritical fluid extraction. Nonetheless, current separation technologies are highly costly, take a lengthy period to complete, and require a lot of momentum (Deng et al., 2021).

Microemulsions have been used to extract a variety of bioactive chemicals during the last several years. For example, a lecithin-based microemulsion technology was used to extract canola oil from the seed of the canola plant (Abbasi and Radi 2016). Using a microemulsion method, lycopene and β -carotene were recovered from tomato and carrot by-product separately (Amiri-Rigi and Abbasi, 2019)

Emulsions are made up a minimum of one immiscible fluid that is spread inside the form of a drop to the other with the help of an emulsifier. This process is referred to as a "green" extraction method. Because the arrangement has both hydrophilic and lipophilic regions, it may incorporate a variety of bioactive compounds (Roohinejad et al., 2014). Furthermore, water, a protic liquid that is able to contribute and absorb hydrogen bonds, is present in large quantities in (O/W) emulsions. This activity might help the tomato tissue membrane enlarge and promote carotenoid restoration. Three solvent factors impact the process of cellular swelling: molar volume, basicity,

and hydrogen bonding ability. Furthermore, a prior report found that the solvent's aprotic or protic character affects the plant matrix's swelling process.

Even though utilizing artificial surfactants in microemulsion-assisted separation improves overall extraction efficiency by raising osmotic pressure, which causes cell expansion, there are rising safety concerns about its usage at elevated intensities in cuisine and decorative presentations. In the absence of a synthetic emulsifier, however, no reports of lycopene O/W emulsion-assisted extraction have been identified. This unique extraction method might aid in the reduction of synthetic and dangerous compounds in food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic applications, as well as improve their safety and client acceptance.

Lauric acid is a green solvent that is well-recognized for the ability to separate carotenoid substances effectively. With a reduced viscosity, greater polarity, lower molar volume, stronger hydrogen bond capacity and greater polarity, it has a greater inflammation quality. Lauric acid has the benefit of increasing total extraction efficiency due to these exceptional features (Table 2.1). Lauric acid is also a fatty acid nutritive enhancement that may provide nutritional benefits. It's important mentioning that no previous research on the impacts of Lauric acid-based O/W emulsions in lycopene recovery has been done to our knowledge. Moreover, the hypotheses are:

- The emulsion system increased the surface area, which may help to enhance lycopene recovery
- (2) Protic solvent, water helps to enlarge the tissue membrane of the plant which may help during extraction (Prusov et al., 2014).

Therefore, the aim of this research is to investigate the lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue using organic solvents, triglycerides, fatty acids, and oil-in-water emulsions with or without of emulsifier and its antioxidant activity
2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Materials

Dried tomato processing residue was provided by Pran Food Ltd, Ekdala, Natore, Bangladesh. Acetone, hexane, ethanol (99.5%), and ethanol (99.5%) were obtained from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd. (Osaka Japan). A Milli-Q system (Sartorius, Arium® pro, Goettingen, Germany) was used to produce deionized water (18 MΩ cm).

2.2.2 Preparation of tomato processing residue powder

Dried tomato processing residue with a moisture content of approximately 7.04% wt was ground using (Ultra Centrifugal Mill ZM 200, Retsch GmbH & Co. KG) into a homogeneous powder with a particle size of 500 μ m and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

2.2.3 Organic solvent extraction

Tomato processing residue (2 g) was combined with 30 mL of acetone, ethanol (99.5%), and hexane and agitated at 25 ° C for 3 h. The solid particles were then removed from the suspensions by centrifuging them at 9,100 x g for 1 hour. Finally, a filter (PTFE - 0.45 um) and analysis of the supernatant were performed.

2.2.4 Fatty acids and triglycerides-based extraction

Tomato processing residue (2 g) was combined with 30 ml of soybean oil, MCT oil, tributyrin, caproic acid, caprylic acid, capric acid, lauric acid, or oleic acid, and mixing using magnetic stirrers (3 h, 50°C). The filtrates were examined to determine their lycopene concentration after the particles had been eliminated.

2.2.5 Fatty acids and triglycerides-based Oil-in-water emulsion extraction

Oil-in-water emulsion-assisted extraction was determined by Tsogtoo et al., (2020) with certain adjustments. In order to prepare oil-in-water emulsions, 30 mL of the triglyceride or fatty acid phase (soybean oil, MCT oil, tributyrin, caproic acid, caprylic acid, capric acid, lauric acid, or oleic acid) were mixed with 70 mL of the aqueous phase, either with or without the addition of 0.1 % (w/w) saponin emulsifier. The coarse emulsions were formed in a rotor-stator homogenizer for 5 minutes at 7000 rpm (Polytron, PT-3000 Kinematica-AG, Littace, Switzerland). The formed emulsions (100 mL) were then mixed, along with 2 g of powdered tomato processing residue, and swirled for 3 hours at 50 ° C at 750 rpm. The supernatants were examined to determine their lycopene concentration after the solid particles had been removed.

2.2.6 Lycopene measurement

With minor adjustments from Fish et al. (2002), the overall lycopene concentration in the tomato processing residue was examined. In a summary, 3 mL of Milli-Q water was added to the solution and stirred for an additional 5 minutes after 2 g of tomato processing residue powder was extracted with a 20 mL fresh combination of acetone, hexane and ethanol, (1:2:1) under continuous stirring (700 rpm) for 15 min at 25 °C. The mixture was then let to spontaneously split into polar and nonpolar phases by resting at 25°C for 5 minutes. The upper phase was filtered through a hydrophobic membrane (0.45 m) and the absorbance was assessed at 503 nm using a UV spectrophotometer (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The bottom phase was re-extracted until it left a whitish residue. The lycopene content of the tomato processing residue was calculated following Equation (1):

Lycopene content
$$\left(\frac{\mu g}{g}\right) = \frac{A_{503} \times 31.2 \times Dilution}{Amount of sample}$$
 (1)

Where A_{503} and 31.2 are the absorbance of the extract at 503 nm and a constant.

2.2.7 Lycopene recovery

The recovery of lycopene extraction R (%) from tomato processing residue was established applying Equation (2):

$$R(\%) = C/C_t \times 100$$
 (2)

Where C is the lycopene in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$), C_t is the total lycopene in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$). In this study, 588.06 $\mu g/g$ of total lycopene content in tomato processing residue was investigated

2.2.8 Antioxidant activity

According to DPPH free radical scavenging activity (2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) (Górnaś et al., 2014; Shen et al., 2010), the antioxidant activity assessment was accomplished with slight adjustments. In a 3 mL ethyl acetate solution (0.1 mM in ethyl acetate), 1 mL extracts of the given solvent extract were added. After that, the mixture was placed in a dark room for 30 minutes. 1 mL ethyl acetate in 3 mL DPPH radical solution was used to make a blank solution. In order to quantify the absorbance, a UV spectrophotometer was used at 517 nm (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Each sample was measured three times. The following equation was used to represent the results in terms of radical scavenging activity:

Radical scavenging activity=
$$A_{control}$$
- $A_{sample}/A_{control} \times 100$ (3)

2.2.9 Droplet size measurement

Using a static laser diffraction particle size analyzer, the volume mean diameter (d4,3) of the soybean oil emulsion with or without an emulsifier was assessed (LS 13,320, Beckman Coulter, Brea, USA). Water and soybean oil both had refractive indexes of 1.33 and 1.47, respectively.

Equation (4) defined the volume mean diameter (d4,3) as the average droplet diameter:

$$d_{4,3} = \sum n_i d_i^4 / \sum n_i d_i^2 \tag{4}$$

where, d_i = diameter, and n_i = the overall number of droplets that are d_i in diameter. d_i .

2.2.10 Statistical analysis

Each experiment is carried out in at least three duplicates, and the mean and standard deviation of the findings are presented in this research. Using Statistic 8.1 software, the analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the lycopene content in various conditions at a 95 % confidence level (p < 0.05). (Tallahassee, USA).

2.3 Results and discussion

2.3.1 Effects of organic solvent extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.1 shows the extraction efficiency of the lycopene using organic solvents. Lycopene extraction efficiency was approximately 37% of tomato processing residue using hexane. As shown in figure 2.2: a, the low polarity value of hexane helps to enhance the lycopene recovery.

In contrast, ethanol resulted in a substantially reduced recovery 25.5 % (Figure 2.1). This lower extraction efficiency can be described by the low high polarity value of ethanol.

In extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. The energy required to produce room in the molecules for other molecules is determined using Hildebrand's standard solubility parameter (Hansen 2007). As a result, the role of chemical attraction in maximizing recoveries were estimated by comparing the solubility characteristics of lycopene and the solvents. It is well recognized that the closer two components' solubility parameters are closed, the stronger their attraction is. On the contrary, the solvent's particle mass also has an impact on Hildebrand solubility.

The dissolving parameter of an atom (δ) is equivalent to the repulsive energy content doubled, according to Hildebrand and Scott's classic solubility hypothesis. As a result, it can be states as:

$$\delta = \sqrt{\frac{\Delta E}{v_m}} \tag{5}$$

Where ΔE is the the repulsive energy content, and v_m is the the molecular volume, respectively.

The overall repulsive energy, according to Hansen, may be separated into three segments: hydrogen-bonding, polarity and dispersion (Hansen 2007). Therefore, the measure of overall dissolution may be written as:

$$\delta^2 = \delta_D^2 + \delta_P^2 + \delta_H^2 \tag{6}$$

where δ_D , δ_P , and δ_H are the dispersion parameter, polar parameter, and hydrogen-bonding solubility parameter, respectively.

Furthermore, the space (D) in Hansen solubility can be used to indicate the attraction of a solute (A) for a diluent (B). This distance may be calculated by adding the points together corresponding to the solute ($\delta_{D,A}$, $\delta_{P,A}$, $\delta_{H,A}$) and the diluent ($\delta_{D,B}$, $\delta_{P,B}$, $\delta_{H,B}$), as follows:

$$D = \sqrt{(\delta_{D,A} - \delta_{D,B})^2 + (\delta_{P,A} - \delta_{P,B})^2 (\delta_{H,A} - \delta_{H,B})^2}$$
(7)

The chemical connections between A and B can be illustrated by length, according to equation 7. The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating strong attraction.

Table 2.1 displays the D-values and solubility parameters for lycopene and the solvents. According to equation 6, Distance can demonstrate the chemical bonding between A and B. The interaction forces are comparable and show good attachment with a modest D-value. (Figure 2.2: b). The solubility characteristics and D-values for lycopene and solvent are shown in Table 2.1. The affinity for lycopene of ethanol, acetone, and hexane can be established as follows: ethanol<acetone<hexane, respectively. The most efficient organic solvent, hexane, for lycopene absorption exhibited comparatively low distance (D = $0.7 \text{ MPa}^{0.5}$) (Table 2.1). Therefore, the attraction of lycopene for hexane is higher than other diluents. Thus, hexane showed the highest recovery of lycopene.

2.3.2 Effects of triglyceride-based extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.3 demonstrates the extraction efficiency of the lycopene using triglyceride-based extraction. Lycopene extraction efficiency was approximately 52% of tomato processing residue using tributyrin.

In the contrast, soybean oil resulted in a lower recovery of approximately 44 % (Figure 2.4: a). This lower extraction efficiency can be described by the high viscosity of soybean oil.

As explained in the previous section, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. Table 2.2 illustrates the D-values and solubility parameters for lycopene and the liquids. Tributyrin with the maximum D-values for lycopene recovery (D = 6.94 MPa^{0.5}) was shown to be the most effective (Table 2.2). As a result, lycopene has a lower affinity for tributyrin than other solvents (Figure 2.4: b). A previous study looked into this inconsistency and found that the most efficient lycopene solvent combination had a rather high distance (Zuorro 2020). Thus, variables apart from dissolved affinity might have an influence on the procedure. Hansen's dissolving sphere includes a low-distance solvent, but it cannot absorb the content, according to prior research. This might be because of the molecule's huge dimensions, which makes it difficult for it to permeate the solute (Yamamoto et al. 2017). Furthermore, even if their solubility parameters are the same, Hildebrand's solubility parameter theory predicts that smaller molar volume solvents are preferred to bigger molar volume solvents. As a result, the size of the solvent molecule might be an important 4th factor in this solubility estimates the foregoing concerns hint at a possible justification for the O/W emulsion-assisted extraction techniques' observed outcomes. Tributyrin consist of a modest length of atoms when contrasted to other triglycerides. Tributyrin's small molecular size allows it to permeate the plant matrix, increasing lycopene recovery.

2.3.3 Effects of fatty acid-based extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.5 demonstrates the recovery of the lycopene using fatty acids. Lycopene extraction efficiency was almost 57% of tomato processing residue using lauric acid. In contrast, oleic acid resulted in a roughly reduced recovery 49.2 % (Figure 2.6: a).

As explained before, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. The energy required to produce room in the molecules for other molecules is determined using Hildebrand's standard solubility parameter (Hansen 2007). As a result, the role of liquid attraction in optimizing recovery was estimated by comparing the solubility characteristics of lycopene and the solvents. It is well recognized that the closer two components' solubility parameters are closed, the stronger their affinity is.

The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating strong attraction.

Table 2.2 provides the dissolution factors and D-values for lycopene and the liquids. According to equation 7, distance can demonstrate the chemical bonding between A and B. The interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating great connection. The dissolution characteristics and distance parameter for lycopene and solvent are shown in Table 2.2. The affinity for lycopene of caproic acid, caprylic acid, lauric acid, or oleic acid can be established as follows: oleic acid<caproic acid<caprylic acid<capric acid<lauric acid, respectively. One of the best fatty acid, lauric acid, for lycopene extraction, indicated comparatively low D-values (D =

8.43 MPa ^{0.5}) (Table 2.2). Thus, the attraction of lycopene for lauric acid is higher than other molecules (Figure 2.6). Thus, lauric acid showed the highest recovery of lycopene.

2.3.4 Effects of triglyceride-based O/W emulsion (without emulsifier) extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.7 shows the recovery of lycopene using O/W emulsion-assisted extraction without an emulsifier. Without surfactant, the lycopene recovery was almost 45% using soybean oil-based O/W emulsion.

In contrast, tributyrin-based O/W emulsion without surfactant resulted in a roughly lower restoration 35 %.

As explained in the previous section, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. The energy required to produce room in the molecules for other molecules is determined using Hildebrand's standard solubility parameter (Hansen 2007). As a result, the significance of liquid affinity in improving recovery was estimated by comparing the solubility characteristics of lycopene and the solvents. It is well recognized that the closer two components' solubility parameters are closed, the stronger their affinity is.

For O/W emulsion, the following equation can be used to determine the solubility parameter:

$$\delta_{O/W \ emulsion} = \sum_{i} \varphi_{i} \ \delta_{i} \tag{8}$$

where φ_i and δ_i be a symbol of the ith component's percentage in the O/W emulsion and its Hansen absorption factor, respectively. Furthermore, the space (D) in Hansen parameter can be used to illustrate the solvent's (B) affinity for a molecule (A) This distance may be calculated by adding the points together corresponding to the molecule ($\delta_{D,A}$, $\delta_{P,A}$, $\delta_{H,A}$) and the solvent ($\delta_{D,B}$, $\delta_{P,B}$, $\delta_{H,B}$), as follows:

$$D = \sqrt{(\delta_{D,A} - \delta_{D,B})^2 + (\delta_{P,A} - \delta_{P,B})^2 (\delta_{H,A} - \delta_{H,B})^2}$$
(9)

The chemical connections between B and A can be illustrated by Hansen space, according to equation 9. The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating strong affinity.

The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating good attachment. Table 2.3 displays the solvent's D-values and the lycopene's solubility properties. The affinity for lycopene of soybean oil, MCT oil, or tributyrin O/W emulsion can be established as follows: soybean oil >MCT oil>tributyrin O/W emulsion without an emulsifier, respectively. The most efficient solvent, soybean oil O/W emulsion without an emulsifier, for lycopene absorption demonstrated considerably lower D-values (D = 32.63 MPa^{0.5}) (Table 2.3). As a result, the affinity of lycopene for soybean oil O/W emulsion is higher than other O/W emulsions (Figure 2.8). Thus, soybean oil O/W emulsion without an emulsifier showed the highest recovery of lycopene.

2.3.5 Effects of fatty acid-based O/W emulsion (without emulsifier) extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.9 shows lycopene recovery using fatty acids-based O/W emulsion-assisted extraction without an emulsifier. Without saponin, the lycopene recovery was almost 73.1% using lauric acid-based oil-in-water emulsion.

In the contrast, oleic acid-based O/W emulsion without saponin lead to a substantially lower recovery 33 %.

As explained in the previous section, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques The energy required to produce room in the molecules for other molecules is determined using Hildebrand's standard solubility parameter (Hansen 2007). As a result, the significance of liquid affinity in improving recovery was estimated by comparing the solubility characteristics of lycopene and the solvents. It is well recognized that the closer two components' solubility parameters are closed, the stronger their affinity is. The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating strong affinity.

According to equation 9, length can illustrate the interactions between A and B. The interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating great connection. Table 2.3 displays the solvent's D-values and the lycopene's solubility properties. The affinity for lycopene of caproic acid, caprylic acid, lauric acid, or oleic acid can be established as follows: oleic acid<caproic acid<caprylic acid<capric acid<lauric acid O/W emulsion without an emulsifier, respectively. The most efficient lauric acid O/W emulsion, for lycopene absorption demonstrated considerably lower D-values (D = $34.1 \text{ MPa}^{0.5}$) (Figure 2.10). As a result, the attraction of lycopene for lauric acid O/W emulsion is higher than other O/W emulsions. Thus, lauric acid oil-in-water emulsion showed the highest recovery.

2.3.6 Effects of triglyceride-based O/W emulsion (with emulsifier) extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.11 reveals the extraction efficiency of lycopene using O/W emulsion-based extraction with an emulsifier. With saponin, the lycopene recovery was around 26% using Tributyrin-based O/W emulsion.

In contrast, soybean oil-based O/W emulsion with emulsifier caused a recovery reduction of around 22%.

As explained in the previous section, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. Table 2.3 displays the Hansen space and solubility characteristics for lycopene and the liquids. Tributyrin O/W emulsion with emulsifier with the maximum D-values for lycopene recovery ($D = 33.6 \text{ MPa}^{0.5}$) was shown to be the most effective (Figure 2.12: b). As a result, lycopene has a lower affinity for tributyrin O/W emulsion than other solvents emulsions. A previous study looked into this inconsistency and found that the most efficient lycopene solvent combination had a rather high Hansen space (Zuorro 2020). Thus, characteristics besides liquid affinity may have an impact on the procedure. Hansen's dissolving spherical includes a short-range solvent, but it does not absorb the solute. according to prior research. This might be because of the solvent's huge size, which makes it difficult for it to permeate the solute (Yamamoto et al. 2017). Furthermore, even if their solubility parameters are the same, Hildebrand's solubility parameter theory predicts that smaller molar volume solvents are preferred to bigger molar volume solvents. As a result, the size of the solvent molecule might be an important 4th factor in Hansen solubility estimates the foregoing consequences hint at a possible clarification for the O/W emulsion-assisted extraction techniques' observed outcomes. Tributyrin has a modest atom's size when correlated to other triglycerides. Tributyrin's small molecular size with low viscosity (figure 2.12: a) allows it to permeate the plant matrix, increasing lycopene recovery.

2.3.7 Effects of fatty acid-based O/W emulsion (with emulsifier) extraction on lycopene recovery

Figure 2.13 shows lycopene recovery using fatty acids-based O/W emulsion-assisted extraction without an emulsifier. With saponin the lycopene recovery was almost 30.2% using lauric acid-based O/W emulsion.

In contrast, oleic acid-based O/W emulsion with emulsifier caused a recovery reduction of around 21.4 %.

As explained in the previous section, in extraction systems, for absorption, Hildebrand solubility is frequently accustomed to assessing the efficacy of diluents in equally traditional and oil-in-water emulsion extraction techniques. The energy required to produce room in the molecules for other molecules is determined using Hildebrand's standard solubility parameter (Hansen 2007). As a result, the importance of liquid affinity in enhancing recovery was estimated by comparing the solubility characteristics of lycopene and the solvents. It is well recognized that the closer two components' solubility parameters are closed, the stronger their affinity. The molecular interactions are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating strong affinity.

According to equation 9, Length can illustrate the reaction mechanism between A and B. The interaction forces are comparable with a tiny D-value, indicating particular fondness. Table 2.3 provides the solubility properties and D-values of lycopene and solvents the affinity for lycopene of caproic acid, caprylic acid, lauric acid, or oleic acid can be established as follows: oleic acid<caproic acid<caprylic acid<capric acid<lauric acid O/W emulsion without an emulsifier, respectively. The most efficient lauric acid O/W emulsion demonstrated considerably lower D-values for the absorption of lycopene (D = 34.14 MPa $^{0.5}$) (Table 2.3). Therefore, the attraction of lycopene for lauric acid O/W emulsion is higher than other O/W emulsions (Figure 2.14). Thus, lauric acid oil-in-water emulsion showed the highest extraction efficiency.

2.3.8 Possible mechanism of O/W emulsion extraction with or without an emulsifier.

As shown in Figure 2.15, lauric acid-based oil-in-water emulsion resulted in the highest lycopene recovery 73.1%. In contrast, lauric acid-based oil-in-water emulsion with natural emulsifier saponin reflected in a substantially lower recovery. 30.2%. The inability to interact between lycopene and triglyceride or fatty acid droplets in the O/W emulsion extraction technique may account for the reduced extraction efficiency. An emulsifier forms a barrier across the solvent when triglyceride or fatty acid droplets are coated with it, which lessens the interaction between the solute and the powder. (Tsogtoo et al. 2020).

Furthermore, the solvent's swelling ability can be used to explain the previously described highest recovery. Cellulose is structured as microfibrils in cellulosic material, with both amorphous and crystalline areas. Slightly thicker fibers made of microfibrils are subsequently cross-linked by hemicelluloses and encased in a cellulosic matrix that simulates a jelly. (Lavecchia and Zuorro 2016). The percentage of cellulose content and the spatial arrangement of the lignocellulosic materials network are regulated by intermolecular and intramolecular interaction. These links are produced by the 4-linked D-glucopyranose units of cellulose-1 that contain hydroxyl groups.

(Grunin et al. 2015). Solvent molecules can penetrate the plant matrix and adsorb to these hydroxyl groups due to their small size and strong polarity. As a result of adsorption, the substance expands as a function of connections that are disrupted, which widen the distance between lignocellulosic strands (Prusov et al. 2014). The amorphous portions of cellulosic, that are less reactive and liquid exposed, are the only places where expansion may occur. As previously mentioned, the capacity of the solvent to form hydrogen bonds, its basicity, and its molar volume all have an impact on the swelling process. The swelling process is also influenced by the solvent's protic or aprotic character (Fidale et al. 2008). because hydrogen bonds may be given and taken by protic solvents like water.

As hypothesized in the introduction section, the existence of a large volume of water, swelling behavior during O/W emulsion extraction is greatly amplified and emulsion enhances the surface area by small droplets size (Figure 2.16) For the lauric acid-based oil-in-water emulsion without an emulsifier, the addition of protic solvent water is thought to allow the tomato processing residue tissue to enlarge. This enlargement helps lauric acid permeate the vegetal tissue, boosting the efficiency of lycopene extraction (73.1%).

Recovering of lycopene seemed less when an emulsifier was used to create the lauric acidbased oil-in-water emulsion than when it wasn't. There is a possibility that a lauric acid-based oilin-water emulsion with 0.1% (w/w) natural emulsifier saponin will be less able to expand the vegetal tissue, however it was observed that the emulsion's hydrogen bond capability was not noticeably affected by the addition of this little quantity of emulsifier (Table 2.3). Consequently, the decreased capacity of lycopene to access the fatty acids and triglycerides droplets' core might be the cause of the saponin emulsifier's lessened capability to recover lycopene from the particles' surface (Figure: 2.15). (Amiri-Rigi and Abbasi 2016). The principle of lycopene extraction from the O/W emulsion may be summed up as follows: A) the solvent's tiny molar mass aids in permeating the plant matrix, facilitating lycopene extraction; and B) the existence of a significant amount of protic solvent (water), and promotes the plant's structure to enlarge by generating hydrogen-bond complexes with the atoms of the cell wall.

2.3.9 Antioxidant activity

Scrounging the stable DPPH radical approach is a common approach for determining antioxidant activity. DPPH is a stable free radical with a 517 nm absorption wavelength and antioxidants react with DPPH and convert it to 2.2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazine. The degree of discoloration indicates the antioxidant extract's scavenging power, which is attributable to its hydrogen donating ability (Van Gadow et al., 1997). DPPH radical-scavenging abilities of the tomato processing residue extracts are shown in Figure 2.17 (c) soybean oil-based O/W emulsion without emulsifier showed high scavenging activity was 95%.

2.4 Conclusion

Using fatty acids, triglycerides, organic solvents, and O/W emulsion-assisted extraction, lycopene was recovered from tomato processing residue in this investigation. Comparing O/W emulsion to organic solvents, triglycerides, or fatty acids, we found that it was more effective in extracting lycopene. Without emulsifier system, the O/W emulsion's capacity to expand aids in enlarging the cell wall, which accelerates recovery.

Compound(MPa $^{0.5}$)(MPa $^{0.5}$)(MPa $^{0.5}$)(MPa $^{0.5}$)(MPa $^{0.5}$)Ethanol15.88.819.426.5221.30Acetone15.510.4719.9412.54Hexane14.9000070Lycopene15.60015.60-	Commoniad	δ_D	δ_P	δ_{H}	δ	D
Ethanol15.88.819.426.5221.30Acetone15.510.4719.9412.54Hexane14.9000070Lycopene15.60015.60-	Compound	(MPa ^{0.5})				
Acetone 15.5 10.4 7 19.94 12.54 Hexane 14.9 0 0 14.90 0.70 Lycopene 15.6 0 0 15.60 -	Ethanol	15.8	8.8	19.4	26.52	21.30
Hexane 14.9 0 0 14.90 0.70 Lycopene 15.6 0 0 15.60 -	Acetone	15.5	10.4	7	19.94	12.54
Lycopene 15.6 0 0 15.60 -	Hexane	14.9	0	0	14.90	0.70
	Lycopene	15.6	0	0	15.60	

e.
)en
loc
1y
pu
ts a
eni
olv
cs
ani
ng 10
ofc
es (
rti
ope
prc
lar
cu
ole
lm
anc
TS :
ete
am
bar
tyl
ili
lut
I SO
sen
an
1 H
2
ble
Ta

 δ_D , dispersion ; δ_P , polar , δ_H , hydrogen bond , δ , total Hansen solubility ; D, distance between points in Hansen space.

41

D	(MPa ^{0.5})	3.47	13.12	6.94	12.40	10.79	9.32	8.43	14.69	27.63	
δ	(MPa ^{0.5})	16.80	6.41	17.70^{1}	20.31	19.38	18.68	18.25	20.46	33.82	15.60
δ_{H}	(MPa ^{0.5})	2.7	4.5	5.71	11.1	9.5	8.3	7.4	14.3	14.3	0
δ_P	(MPa ^{0.5})	2.0	2.8	3.91	5.5	5.1	4.2	4	3.1	23.23	0
δ_D	(MPa ^{0.5})	16.5	3.6	16.3 ¹	16.1	16.1	16.2	16.2	14.3	20	15.6
Compound		Soybean oil	Mct oil	Tributyrin	Caproic acid	Caprylic acid	Capric acid	Lauric acid	Oleic acid	Saponin	Lycopene

characteristics.
le solubility
and lycopen
acids,
fatty
rcerides,
s]∕
Π
5
d
Table

 δ_D , dispersion ; δ_P , polar , δ_H , hydrogen bond , δ , total Hansen solubility ; D, distance between points in

Hansen space.

Types of O/W		δ_D	δ_P	δ_{H}	δ	D
emulsion	Compound	(MPa ^{0.5})				
	Soybean oil	15.80	11.80	30.42	36.25	32.63
	Mct oil	11.93	12.04	30.96	35.30	33.42
X7:41.	Tributyrin	15.74	12.37	31.32	37.17	33.67
v unout mulsifier	Caproic acid	15.68	12.85	32.94	38.68	35.36
	Caprylic acid	15.68	12.73	32.46	38.23	34.87
	Capric acid	15.71	12.46	32.1	37.85	34.43
	Lauric acid	15.71	12.4	31.83	37.60	34.16
	Oleic acid	15.14	12.13	33.90	39.06	36.01
	Soybean oil	15.80	11.81	30.40	36.24	32.61
	Mct oil	11.93	12.05	30.94	35.28	33.40
	Tributyrin	15.74	12.38	31.30	37.16	33.66
v ith emulsiner	Caproic acid	15.68	12.86	32.92	38.66	35.34
	Caprylic acid	11.93	12.74	32.44	36.84	35.04
	Capric acid	10.94	12.47	32.08	36.11	34.73
	Lauric acid	15.71	12.41	31.81	37.59	34.14
	Oleic acid	15.14	12.13	33.88	39.04	35.99

Table 2.3 Triglyceride and fatty acid-based O/W emulsion solubility characteristics with or without of

space.



Figure 2.1: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using organic solvent extraction.



(b)



Figure 2.2: Effects of (a) solvent polarity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.



Figure 2.3: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglycerides.



(b)



Figure 2.4: Effects of (a) viscosity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.



Figure 2.5: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acids.



Figure 2.6: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.



Figure 2.7: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglyceridesbased O/W emulsion extraction without emulsifier.



Figure 2.8: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.



Figure 2.9: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acidsbased O/W emulsion extraction without emulsifier.



Figure 2.10: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.



Figure 2.11: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different triglyceridesbased O/W emulsion extraction with emulsifier.



Figure 2.12: Effects of (a) Viscosity and (b) Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue.

55



Figure 2.13: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different fatty acidsbased O/W emulsion extraction with emulsifier.



Figure 2.14: Effects of Hansen space on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue



Figure 2.15: Possible mechanism of O/W emulsion extraction



Figure 2.16: Droplet size distribution of O/W emulsion



Figure 2.17: Extraction of antioxidant of tomato processing residue using (a) organic solvents, (b) triglycerides and fatty acids, (c) triglycerides and fatty acids-based O/W emulsion without emulsifier and (d) triglycerides and fatty acids-based O/W emulsion with emulsifier extraction methods
Chapter 3

Effect of different extraction conditions of

lycopene recovery and antioxidant activity.

3.1 Introduction

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicon*) is one of the most important crops worldwide, which is rich in natural antioxidant compounds (Brandt et al., 2006b). It is assumed as a functional food that has epidemiological evidence for reducing the risk of certain types of cancers (Cantuti-Castelvetri et al., 2000; Yamaguchi and Uchiyama, 2003). Epidemiological and nutritional studies proposed that within biological systems, the carotenoid in natural tomatoes is the most effective singlet oxygen quencher of all carotenoids (Zhang et al., 1991). In the last decades, abundant research has been performed on the valorization of agro-food products and their industrial by-products. The valorization purpose was the recovery of natural antioxidants and their use as substitutes for synthetic antioxidants such as butylated hydroxyanisole (BHA) and butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT). Importantly, synthetic antioxidants have been recently declared to be liver-damaging and carcinogenic. Therefore, they have been regulated in many places of the world (Dolatabadi et al., 2016).

Lycopene (C₄₀H₅₆) is a natural lipophilic antioxidant, which is a symmetrical and acyclic pigment. It is generated in plants as a photosynthesis pigment complex. Lycopene can be found in mature tomato, papaya, pink grapefruit, guava, and watermelon, giving them a distinctive red color (Rao and Agarwal.,1999; Bramley., 2000). It has a significant antioxidant impact as a precursor of β -carotene and is stable in cold, dark environments away from oxygen and light (Urbonaviciene et al., 2012). Atherosclerosis, cardiovascular disease, and some forms of cancer, such as stomach, prostate, and breast cancer, can all be mitigated by lycopene (Jain et al., 1999; Tsushima et al., 1995). It has previously been used as a natural food colorant, but it has recently attracted attention as a pharmaceutical component (Choudhari and Ananthanarayan, 2007).

According to the literature review, various extraction strategies for recovering lycopene have already been developed. However, almost all of the approaches have been proven to be economically unviable for large-scale manufacturing. Lycopene is frequently recovered using toxic organic solvents such ethanol, acetone, n-hexane, and ethyl acetate. Hazardous solvents have several disadvantages, include hazard, solvent remains in the completed project, and environmental contamination. New extraction methods assisted with enzyme, microwave, ultrasound, and emulsifier pretreatments are being studied for carotenoid recovery from tomatoes (Amiri-Rigi et al., 2016; Lianfu and Zelong, 2008). Supercritical fluid extraction is another method for lycopene extraction that enhances lycopene extraction and permits teamwork at moderate conditions. Supercritical fluids are reportedly excessively expensive, which renders the actual system disagreeable and financially unappealing for huge production, according to various estimations. (Naviglio et al., 2008).

In this current research, oil-in-water emulsion-assisted extraction was estimated as a substitute for the organic solvent extraction method. Because of the existence of both lipophilic and hydrophilic domains, this approach is regarded as a green and unique extraction technology for its capacity to incorporate various bioactive (Roohinejad et al., 2014). Emulsion technology is well-known in food science. It possesses exceptional physicochemical properties, including the ability to generate optically clear and colloids that are highly stable, have a high level of absorption for both hydrophilic and lipophilic elements, and improved enzymatic and chemical reaction efficacy (Abbasi and Radi, 2016). Previous studies have reported that The microemulsion technique has been successfully used for the extraction of diverse organic compounds, such as lycopene from tomato peels (Papaioannou and Karabelas, 2012), proteins, enzymes, phenols from liquids (Materna and Szymanowski, 2002), and antioxidants from wine slime (Chatzilazarou et al.,

2010). Due to the limits of current lycopene extraction methods that use dangerous solvents, the industry is calling for a greener, safer, and more effective procedure. Moreover, extraction conditions also have great effects on extraction recovery.

Therefore, in this present study, we intended to extract lycopene from tomato processing residue using different temperatures and times using lauric acid and soybean oil O/W emulsion without an emulsifier.

3.2 Material and methods

3.2.1 Materials

Dried tomato processing residue was provided by Pran Food Ltd, Ekdala, Natore, Bangladesh. Hexane, ethanol (99.5%) acetone, soybean oil, and lauric acid were obtained from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd. (Osaka Japan). A Milli-Q system (Sartorius, Arium® pro, Goettingen, Germany) generated deionized water (18 MΩ cm).

3.2.2. Preparation of tomato processing residue powder

Dried tomato processing residue with a moisture content of approximately 7.6 % wt was grounded (Ultra Centrifugal Mill ZM 200, Retsch GmbH & Co. KG) into a homogeneous powder with a particle size of 500 µm and kept at -20 °C for further evaluation.

3.2.3. Total lycopene quantification

With minor adjustments from Fish et al. (2002), the overall lycopene concentration in the tomato processing residue was examined. In a summary, 3 mL of Milli-Q water was added to the solution and stirred for an additional 5 minutes after 2 g of tomato processing residue powder was extracted with a 20 mL fresh combination of acetone, hexane and ethanol, (1:2:1) under continuous stirring (700 rpm) for 15 min at 25 °C. The mixture was then let to spontaneously split into polar and nonpolar phases by resting at 25°C for 5 minutes. The upper phase was filtered through a hydrophobic membrane (0.45 m) and the absorbance was assessed at 503 nm using a UV spectrophotometer (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The bottom phase was re-extracted until it left a whitish residue. The lycopene content of the tomato processing residue was calculated following Equation (1):

Lycopene content
$$(\mu g/g) = \frac{A_{503} \times 31.2 \times \text{Dilution}}{Amount of sample}$$
 (1)

Where A_{503} and 31.2 are the absorbance of the extract at 503 nm and a constant.

3.2.4. O/W emulsion-assisted extraction

As in the previous chapter, O/W emulsion-assisted extraction was carried out. In order to prepare O/W emulsions, 30 mL of the fatty acid or triglycerides phase (soybean oil or lauric acid) was homogenized with 70 mL of the aqueous phase, either with or without 0.1% (w/w) saponin emulsifier. The emulsions were generated in a rotor-stator mixer for 5 minutes at 7000 rpm (Polytron, PT-3000 Kinematica-AG, Littace, Switzerland). Then, created emulsions (100 mL) and 2 g of powdered tomato processing residue were applied, and the mixture was agitated for 3 h at 50, 60, 70, or 80 °C at 750 rpm. The supernatants were examined to determine their lycopene concentration after the solid particles had been removed.

3.2.5 Lycopene recovery

The lycopene recovery R(%) from tomatoes was revealed utilizing Equation (2):

$$R(\%) = C/C_t \times 100$$
 (2)

where *C* is the lycopene amount in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$), *C_t* is the initial lycopene amount in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$).

3.2.6 Antioxidant activity

According to DPPH free radical scavenging activity (2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) (Górnaś et al., 2014; Shen et al., 2010), the antioxidant activity assessment was accomplished with slight adjustments. In a 3 mL ethyl acetate solution (0.1 mM in ethyl acetate), 1 mL extracts of the given solvent extract were added. After that, the mixture was placed in a dark room for 30 minutes. 1 mL ethyl acetate in 3 mL DPPH radical solution was used to make a blank solution. In order to quantify the absorbance, a UV spectrophotometer was used at 517 nm (V-530, Jasco Corporation,

Tokyo, Japan). Each sample was measured three times. The following equation was used to represent the results in terms of radical scavenging activity:

Radical scavenging activity=
$$A_{control}-A_{sample}/A_{control} \times 100$$
 (3)

3.2.7 Statistical analysis

Each experiment is carried out in at least three duplicates, and the mean and standard deviation of the findings are presented in this research. Using Statistic 8.1 software, the analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the lycopene content in various conditions at a 95 % confidence level (p <0.05). (Tallahassee, USA).

3.3. Results and discussion

3.3.1. Effects of temperature and time on lycopene recovery and antioxidant activity

Figure 3.1: a show the effects of extraction temperature and time on lycopene recovery from tomato processing residue using lauric acid-based oil-in-water emulsion as a model emulsion-based extraction system. As shown in Figure 3.1: a, the lycopene recovery decreased while the temperature was increased. The highest lycopene recovery was observed at 50 °C. This investigation agrees with previous research, which mentioned that a temperature greater than 65 °C resulted in carotenoid degeneration. However, the antioxidant capacity of soybean extract solution increased by 95%. at 60 °C (Figure 3.2: a)

On the other hand, the effects of extraction time were investigated at 50 °C for lycopene recovery. As shown in figure 3.1:b, the lycopene recovery was enhanced at 2 h extraction. The lycopene recovery was decreased after increasing the extraction time and suggesting a chemical degradation of the extracted compound. As for antioxidant activity (Figure 3.2: b), 3 h was found as the best condition.

3.4 Conclusion

In this study, high lycopene recovery (77%) and antioxidant activity (95%) were found at 50 $^{\circ}$ C for 2 h and antioxidant activity at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 3 h. Therefore, the extract obtained using lauric acid and soybean oil O/W emulsion was used to assess the stability over time of lycopene and antioxidant activity and the following experiment was carried out under these conditions.



(a)

(b)



Figure 3.1: Extraction of lycopene from tomato processing residue using different (a) temperatures and (b) time.



Figure 3.2: Antioxidant activity of soybean oil-based O/W emulsion extract of tomato processing residue using different (a) temperatures and (b) time.

Chapter 4

Chemical stability of lycopene and antioxidant

activity of the extract

4.1 Introduction

Lycopene ($C_{40}H_{56}$) is a natural carotenoid that gives tomatoes their rich red color. (Omoni & Aluko, 2005). In epidemiological and clinical investigations, lycopene appears to protect against cardiovascular disease (Cheng et al., 2017; Senkus et al., 2018) cancer (Rowles III et al., 2017; Trejo-Solís et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015), and neurodegenerative disorders such as Huntington's, Parkinson's, and Alzheimer's diseases (Chen et al., 2019; Sang Cho et al., 2018). Lycopene is powerful antioxidative strain, which is frequently connected to the improvement of the previously mentioned diseases. Furthermore, current research has indicated that lycopene aids in the induction of apoptosis, the inhibition of cell growth, and the expansion of intercellular gap-junctional communication. (Hantz et al., 2005; Zefferino et al., n.d.).

With 13 carbon-carbon double bonds, 11 of which are conjugated, lycopene (also known as, ψ , ψ -carotene) is a tetra-terpenic acyclic hydrocarbon. Lycopene is one of most effective antioxidants because of its high amount of recombination, which also gives it a good antioxidant impact. Singlet oxygen (¹O₂) is a reactive chemical that can harm lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids. Lycopene is very efficient at quench molecular oxygen (¹O₂)(Przybylska, 2020). The in vitro investigations have evaluated the lycopene's ability to quench singlet oxygen as twice as high as that of β -carotene and 10 times higher than that of α -tocopherol (Di Mascio et al., 1989). It can also help defend LDL cholesterol from free radical damage (Cheng et al., 2017), by preventing oxidation and deposition in the arterial wall, which leads to the formation of atherosclerotic plaques (Cervantes Gracia et al., 2017). The aforementioned findings have raised demand for lycopene-rich medicines, functional ingredients, and beauty products. As a result, the quantity and profitability of the lycopene market have increased quickly. (Ciriminna et al., 2016). Therefore,

the establishment of a novel technology for lycopene recovery seems vital for solubilization and bioavailability.

The majority of natural lycopene is extracted from tomatoes and tomato residue(Zuorro et al., 2011). The tomato, which is frequently recognized as a functional ingredient with a variety of biological features, is one of the crops with the highest concentration of natural antioxidants, such as reducing the risk of certain types of cancer (Brandt et al., 2006a). Tomatoes and tomato-based products contribute to more than 85% of human dietary lycopene consumption, which accounts for about 80%–90% of all tomato carotenoids (A. V. Rao & Agarwal, 2000).

According to the literature review, various extraction strategies for recovering lycopene have already been developed. However, almost all of the approaches have been proven to be economically unviable for large-scale manufacturing. Lycopene is frequently extracted using toxic organic solvents such ethanol, acetone, n-hexane, and ethyl acetate. Hazardous solvents have a number of drawbacks, such as poisoning, chemical residue in the final product, and removal complications. On the other hand, other extraction methods assisted with enzyme, microwave, ultrasound, and emulsifier pretreatments have been studied for carotenoid recovery from tomatoes (Amiri-Rigi et al., 2016). Supercritical fluid extraction is another method for lycopene extraction that enhances lycopene extraction and permits teamwork at moderate conditions. Supercritical fluids are reportedly excessively expensive, which renders the actual system disagreeable and financially unappealing for huge production, according to various estimations.

Microemulsions have been used in recent years to extract a variety of bioactive substances. For instance, using an emulsifier in microemulsion technique, canola oil was recovered from canola plant seeds. (Roohinejad, 2014). While utilizing non-ionic emulsifier, lycopene and β - carotene were recovered from carrot pomace and tomato peels, correspondingly. (Papaioannou & Karabelas, 2012; Radi & Abbasi, 2018).

In general, the emulsion is known as a heterogeneous system in which with an emulsifier, at least one insoluble liquid is disseminated into the other in the form of drops. This procedure is regarded as a green extraction approach. Due to the existence of both hydrophilic and lipophilic domains, it may incorporate a variety of bioactive chemicals (Roohinejad, 2014). The oil-in-water (O/W) emulsion also contains a significant quantity of protic solvent water, which has the ability to give and accept hydrogen bonds. This property may allow tomato fruits' cell walls to expand, enhancing the recovery of lycopene. Three solvent characteristics that largely affect the process of cellular expansion are basicity, molar mass, and hydrogen bonding tendency. (Flanagan et al., 2006; Papaioannou & Karabelas, 2012). The enlargement process is further influenced by the protic or aprotic character of the liquid.

Although raising the osmotic pressure and resulting in cell elongation by the use of synthesized emulsifiers in microemulsion-based extraction helps to increase total extraction recoveries (Radi & Abbasi, 2018). Considering their utilization in high doses in both dietary and skin care applications, there are an increasing number of safety measures. (Fidale et al., 2008). In contrast, there are no reports of lycopene O/W emulsion-based extraction when a synthetic emulsifier is not present. This innovative extraction technique may contribute to lowering the amount of synthetic and dangerous ingredients used in food, medicine, and cosmetic products while also improving their safety and increasing consumer acceptability. One environmentally friendly solvent renowned for its effectiveness in removing bioactive chemicals is lauric acid. Lycopene has a strong affinity for it. Lauric acid is also a dietary supplement of fatty acids with potential nutritional benefits. It is important to note that no prior research has been done to

determine the effectiveness of lycopene extraction using oil-in-water emulsions based on lauric acid or the chemical stability of lycopene extract.

In this chapter, we investigate the chemical stability of lycopene and the antioxidant activity of lauric acid and soybean oil extract, respectively.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Materials

Dried tomato processing residue was provided by Pran Food Ltd, Ekdala, Natore, Bangladesh. Hexane, ethanol (99.5%), acetone, soybean oil, and lauric acid were obtained from Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Ltd. (Osaka Japan). A Milli-Q system (Sartorius, Arium® pro, Goettingen, Germany) generated deionized water (18 MΩ cm).

4.2.2 Preparation of tomato processing residue powder

Dried tomato processing residue with a moisture content of approximately 7.04% wt was ground using (Ultra Centrifugal Mill ZM 200, Retsch GmbH & Co. KG) into a homogeneous powder with a particle size of 500 μ m and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

4.2.3 O/W emulsion-assisted extraction

As in the prior chapter, O/W emulsion-assisted extraction was carried out. In a summary, O/W emulsions were produced by homogenizing 30 mL of soybean oil or lauric acid with 70 mL of the aqueous phase without the use of an emulsifier. The emulsions were created in a rotor-stator homogenizer (Polytron, PT-3000 Kinematica-AG, Littace, Switzerland) for 5 minutes at 7000 rpm. Then, created emulsions (100 mL) were added together with 2 g of tomato processing residue powder and agitated at 750 rpm for 2 hours at 50°C for lauric acid, and for 3 h at 60°C for soybean oil. The supernatants were subjected to solid particle removal, lycopene content analysis, and kept for 10 days stability at 5 and 25°C.

4.2.4 Lycopene quantification

With minor adjustments from Fish et al. (2002), the overall lycopene concentration in the tomato processing residue was examined. In a summary, 3 mL of Milli-Q water was added to the solution and stirred for an additional 5 minutes after 2 g of tomato processing residue powder was

extracted with a 20 mL fresh combination of acetone, hexane and ethanol, (1:2:1) under continuous stirring (700 rpm) for 15 min at 25 °C. The mixture was then let to spontaneously split into polar and nonpolar phases by resting at 25°C for 5 minutes. The upper phase was filtered through a hydrophobic membrane (0.45 m) and the absorbance was assessed at 503 nm using a UV spectrophotometer (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The bottom phase was re-extracted until it left a whitish residue. The lycopene content of the tomato processing residue was calculated following Equation (1):

Lycopene content
$$\left(\frac{\mu g}{g}\right) = \frac{A_{503} \times 31.2 \times Dilution}{Amount of sample}$$
 (1)

Where A_{503} and 31.2 are the absorbance of the extract at 503 nm and a constant.

4.2.5 Lycopene recovery

The lycopene recovery R(%) from tomato processing residue was defined using Equation (2):

$$\mathbf{R}(\%) = \mathbf{C}/\mathbf{C}_{\mathrm{t}} \times 100 \tag{2}$$

where C is the lycopene amount in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$), C_t is the initial lycopene amount in tomato processing residue ($\mu g/g$) (Amiri-Rigi and Abbasi 2019). In this study, 588.06 $\mu g/g$ of total lycopene content in tomato processing residue was investigated

4.2.6 Antioxidant activity

According to DPPH free radical scavenging activity (2, 2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl) (Górnaś et al., 2014; Shen et al., 2010), the antioxidant activity assessment was accomplished with slight adjustments. In a 3 mL ethyl acetate solution (0.1 mM in ethyl acetate), 1 mL extracts of the given solvent extract were added. After that, the mixture was placed in a dark room for 30 minutes. 1 mL ethyl acetate in 3 mL DPPH radical solution was used to make a blank solution. In order to

quantify the absorbance, a UV spectrophotometer was used at 517 nm (V-530, Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Each sample was measured three times. The following equation was used to represent the results in terms of radical scavenging activity:

Radical scavenging activity =
$$A_{control} - A_{sample} / A_{control} \times 100$$
 (3)

4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Each experiment is carried out in at least three duplicates, and the mean and standard deviation of the findings are presented in this research. Using Statistic 8.1 software, the analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the lycopene content in various conditions at a 95 % confidence level (p <0.05). (Tallahassee, USA).

4.3 Result and discussion

4.3.1 Chemical stability of lycopene and antioxidant activity

As shown in Figure 4.1, lycopene in the lauric acid extract was stable at 5 °C compared to 25 °C. However, lycopene in lauric acid extract dramatically decreased at 25 °C. A previous study also investigated that lycopene at 25 °C degrades mainly through the oxidation process (Hackett et al., 2004).

According to Galicia et al. (2008), enhanced temperature caused an increase in the constant rate of lycopene degradation. Also, according to research by Spagna et al., 2005, tomato polyphenol oxidase causes color changes such as darkening and lycopene degradation. It is therefore strongly advised to inactivate the polyphenol oxidase to protect the stability of the lycopene.

On the other hand, in figure 4.2 antioxidant activity of soybean oil extract was stable during 6 days of storage. In addition, soybean oil has considerable amounts of natural antioxidants, which may enhance the recovery of antioxidant and helps to keep stable during storage (Massana et al., 1991;Mancini et al., 1993; Antoun et el., 1997: Grati-Kamoun et al., 2007). The low dissociation energy of the double bonds in polyunsaturated fatty acids like linoleic and linolenic acids, which are plentiful in soybean oil, are the main contributors to its oxidative instability. On the other hand, they drastically started to diminish after 6 days of storage.

4.4 Conclusion

In this study, lycopene in lauric acid O/W emulsion extract was stable at 5 °C compared to 25 °C. However, lycopene in lauric acid extract dramatically decreased at 25 °C by the oxidation process. Antioxidant activity of soybean oil extract was stable during 6 days of storage and after 6 days of storage, they dramatically started to decrease.



Figure 4.1: Chemical stability of lycopene in lauric acid O/W emulsion extract during storage.



Figure 4.2: Chemical stability of residual antioxidant activity in soybean oil O/W emulsion extract during storage.

Chapter 5

General conclusion and future prospects

5.1 General conclusion

In this study, lycopene was extracted from tomato processing residue using organic solvents, triglycerides, fatty acids O/W emulsion-based extraction. In comparison to organic solvents, triglycerides, or fatty acids, O/W emulsion was typically more efficacious at recovering lycopene. O/W emulsion without an emulsifier enhanced lycopene recovery almost two times more than organic solvents and crude triglycerides extraction, respectively. Enhanced recovery is a result of the O/W emulsion's capacity to expand the cell without the addition of an emulsifier. Cellulose is structured as microfibrils in cellulosic material, with both amorphous and crystalline areas. Slightly thicker fibers are created from microfibrils, which are subsequently merge by hemicelluloses and encased in a cellulosic substrate that simulates a jelly. The quantity of cellulose fiber and the spatial structure of the lignocellulosic materials matrix are regulated by intermolecular and intramolecular interactions. These connections are produced by the hydroxyl groups in the cellulose-1, 4-linked D-glucopyranose units. Plant matrix-penetrating solvent molecules can bind to such hydroxyl groups by adsorption, due to their small size and strong polarity. Adsorption causes some connections to break down, which widens the gap between cellulose fibers and causes the substance to expand. The amorphous portions of cellulose, which are more responsive and susceptible to chemicals, are the only places where expansion may occur. The expansion process is also influenced by the solvent's protic or aprotic character. because complexation solvents like water are capable of both hydrogen bond creation and destruction. As hypothesized in the introduction section, the existence of a large volume of water, swelling behavior during O/W emulsion extraction is greatly amplified and emulsion enhances the surface area by small droplets size. For the lauric acid-based emulsion without an emulsifier, the addition of protic solvent water is thought to allow the tomato processing residue tissue to enlarge. This

expansion helps lauric acid permeate the plant matrix, increasing the effectiveness of lycopene extraction. Furthermore, it was shown that lycopene could not partition to triglycerides or fatty acids if an emulsifier is added. Lauric acid was discovered to be the ideal solvent for lycopene recovery since it is non-toxic and safe for the environment. Therefore, lycopene recovery (77 %) using lauric acid-based O/W emulsion extraction without an emulsifier might be an efficient and promising method that can be used to food supplements and dietary nutritious complements. On the other hand, when compared to other triglycerides and fatty acids, O/W emulsion extraction techniques have the strongest antioxidant activity. In consideration of this, O/W emulsion without emulsifier can also be a green extraction technique for antioxidant activity.

5.2 Future prospects:

The obtained findings of this thesis could provide insight and helpful information for the recovery of natural compounds, since the industry expects a cleaner, safer, and more efficient method. Potential applications can be created according to these findings. Such as cosmetics and pharmaceuticals application. On the other hand, fatty acid-based O/W emulsion extraction without an emulsifier has the potential to be a potentially environmentally friendly method for lycopene recovery and antioxidant activity, which may subsequently be applied in nutritional nutraceuticals and dietary supplements. The extracted lycopene can be used as a modified packaging as well. The molecular behavior of O/W emulsion with or without emulsifier and their influence on the lycopene extraction process, nevertheless, should be the subject of additional investigation.

On the other hand, not only lycopene but also tomato processing residue can use for longterm approaches to make valuable products. Investigation and manufacturing concentrating on developing unique and goods with a high level of value, particularly naturopathic remedies and medicines, are also part of upcoming approaches and initiatives for the use of tomato processing residue. Furthermore, compost made from tomato processing residue is seen as a viable organic waste management alternative because of its availability and capacity to enhance soil properties and vegetation development. Another possibility is the bioconversion of tomato processing residue into sustainable gaseous or liquid renewables, such methane and bioenergy. Bioenergy is a potential, inexhaustible, and long-term energy source that can meet growing energy demands while also addressing the depletion of natural gas Hydrolases enzymes are created in solid-state fermentation from tomato processing residue (Lu et al., 2019). Additionally, tomato processing residue can be used also in food to enhance the dietary fiber antioxidants with attractive color. A developing country such as Bangladesh also produces a big amount of tomato processing residue. If this residue may use to make some food or add to foods, which may help to get more nutrients as well.

References

- Abbasi, S., & Radi, M. (2016). Food grade microemulsion systems: canola oil/lecithin:npropanol/water. *Food Chemistry*, 194, 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.08.078
- Amiri-Rigi, A., & Abbasi, S. (2016). Microemulsion-based lycopene extraction: effect of surfactants, co-surfactants and pretreatments. *Food Chemistry*, 197, 1002–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.11.077
- Amiri-Rigi, A., & Abbasi, S. (2019). Extraction of lycopene using a lecithin-based olive oil microemulsion. *Food Chemistry*, 272, 568–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2018.08.080
- Amiri-Rigi, A., Abbasi, S., & Scanlon, M. G. (2016). Enhanced lycopene extraction from tomato industrial waste using microemulsion technique: optimization of enzymatic and ultrasound pre-treatments. *Innovative Food Science and Emerging Technologies*, 35, 160–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2016.05.004
- Bramley, P. M. (2000). Is lycopene beneficial to human health? *Phytochemistry*, 54(3), 233–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(00)00103-5
- Brandt, S., Pék, Z., Barna, É., Lugasi, A., & Helyes, L. (2006a). Lycopene content and colour of ripening tomatoes as affected by environmental conditions. *Journal of the Science of Food* and Agriculture, 86(4), 568–572. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2390
- Brandt, S., Pék, Z., Barna, É., Lugasi, A., & Helyes, L. (2006b). Lycopene content and colour of ripening tomatoes as affected by environmental conditions. *Journal of the Science of Food*

and Agriculture, 86(4), 568–572. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2390

- Cantuti-Castelvetri, I., Shukitt-Hale, B., & Joseph, J. A. (2000). Neurobehavioral aspects of antioxidants in aging. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 18(4–5), 367– 381. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0736-5748(00)00008-3
- Cervantes Gracia, K., Llanas-Cornejo, D., Husi, H., & Dasí, F. (2017). Clinical Medicine CVD and Oxidative Stress. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm6020022
- Chatzilazarou, A., Katsoyannos, E., Gortzi, O., Lalas, S., Paraskevopoulos, Y., Dourtoglou, E., & Tsaknis, J. (2010). Removal of polyphenols from wine sludge using cloud point extraction. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 60(4), 454–459. https://doi.org/10.3155/1047-3289.60.4.454
- Chen, D., Huang, C., & Chen, Z. (2019). A review for the pharmacological effect of lycopene in central nervous system disorders. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, 111(October 2018), 791–801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.12.151
- Cheng, H. M., Koutsidis, G., Lodge, J. K., Ashor, A., Siervo, M., & Lara, J. (2017). Tomato and lycopene supplementation and cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Atherosclerosis*, 257, 100–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.01.009
- Choudhari, S. M., & Ananthanarayan, L. (2007). Enzyme aided extraction of lycopene from tomato tissues. *Food Chemistry*, 102(1), 77–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.04.031

- Ciriminna, R., Fidalgo, A., Meneguzzo, F., Ilharco, L. M., & Pagliaro, M. (2016). Lycopene: emerging production methods and applications of a valued carotenoid. ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering, 4(3), 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.5b01516
- Deng, Y., Zhao, S., Yang, X., Hou, F., Fan, L., Wang, W., Xu, E., Cheng, H., Guo, M., & Liu, D. (2021). Evaluation of extraction technologies of lycopene: hindrance of extraction, effects on isomerization and comparative analysis a review. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 115, 285–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2021.06.051
- Di Mascio, P., Kaiser, S., & Sies, H. (1989). Lycopene as the most efficient biological carotenoid singlet oxygen quencher. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 274(2), 532–538. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-9861(89)90467-0
- Dolatabadi, Z., Elhami Rad, A. H., Farzaneh, V., Akhlaghi Feizabad, S. H., Estiri, S. H., & Bakhshabadi, H. (2016). Modeling of the lycopene extraction from tomato pulps. *Food Chemistry*, 190, 968–973. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.06.069
- Domínguez, R., Gullón, P., Pateiro, M., Munekata, P. E. S., Zhang, W., & Lorenzo, J. M. (2020).
 Tomato as potential source of natural additives for meat industry. a review. *Antioxidants* 2020, Vol. 9, Page 73, 9(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.3390/ANTIOX9010073
- Eh, A. L. S., & Teoh, S. G. (2012). Novel modified ultrasonication technique for the extraction of lycopene from tomatoes. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 19(1), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2011.05.019
- Fidale, L. C., Ruiz, N., Heinze, T., & El Seoud, O. A. (2008). Cellulose swelling by aprotic and

protic solvents: what are the similarities and differences? *Macromolecular Chemistry and Physics*, 209(12), 1240–1254. https://doi.org/10.1002/macp.200800021

- Flanagan, J., Kortegaard, K., Neil Pinder, D., Rades, T., & Singh, H. (2006). Solubilisation of soybean oil in microemulsions using various surfactants. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 20(2-3 SPEC. ISS.), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodhyd.2005.02.017
- Gadhave, A. D., & Waghmare, J. T. (2021). A short review on microemulsion and its application in extraction of vegetable oil. In IJRET: *International Journal of Research in Engineering and Technology*. Retrieved June 27, from http://www.ijret.org
- Górnaś, P., Siger, A., Juhņeviča, K., Lacis, G., Šne, E., & Segliņa, D. (2014). Cold-pressed japanese quince (chaenomeles japonica (thunb.) lindl. ex spach) seed oil as a rich source of α-tocopherol, carotenoids and phenolics: a comparison of the composition and antioxidant activity with nine other plant oils. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 116(5), 563–570. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201300425
- Grunin, L. Y., Grunin, Y. B., Talantsev, V. I., Nikolskaya, E. A., & Masas, D. S. (2015).
 Features of the structural organization and sorption properties of cellulose. *Polymer Science Series A*, 57(1), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1134/S0965545X15010034
- Hantz, H. L., Young, L. F., & Martin, K. R. (2005). Physiologically attainable concentrations of lycopene induce mitochondrial apoptosis in LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 230(3), 171–179.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/153537020523000303

Jain, C. K., Agarwal, S., & Rao, A. V. (1999). The effect of dietary lycopene on bioavailability,

tissue distribution, in vivo antioxidant properties and colonic preneoplasia in rats. *Nutrition Research*, 19(9), 1383–1391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0271-5317(99)00095-0

- Kha, T. C., Nguyen, M. H., Roach, P. D., & Stathopoulos, C. E. (2015). Ultrasound-assisted aqueous extraction of oil and carotenoids from microwave-dried gac (momordica cochinchinensis spreng) aril. *International Journal of Food Engineering*, 11(4), 479–492. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijfe-2014-0220
- Knoblich, M., Anderson, B., & Latshaw, D. (2005). Analyses of tomato peel and seed byproducts and their use as a source of carotenoids. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85(7), 1166–1170. https://doi.org/10.1002/JSFA.2091
- Lavecchia, R., & Zuorro, A. (2016). Cellulase applications in pigment and bioactive compound extraction. new and future developments in microbial biotechnology and bioengineering: microbial cellulase system properties and applications, 209–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63507-5.00019-8
- Li, N., Wu, X., Zhuang, W., Xia, L., Chen, Y., Wu, C., Rao, Z., Du, L., Zhao, R., Yi, M., Wan,
 Q., & Zhou, Y. (2021). Tomato and lycopene and multiple health outcomes: umbrella
 review. In *Food Chemistry* (Vol. 343). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.128396
- Lianfu, Z., & Zelong, L. (2008). Optimization and comparison of ultrasound/microwave assisted extraction (UMAE) and ultrasonic assisted extraction (UAE) of lycopene from tomatoes. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 15(5), 731–737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2007.12.001
- Lu, Z., Wang, J., Gao, R., Ye, F., & Zhao, G. (2019). Sustainable valorisation of tomato pomace: A comprehensive review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 86(February), 172–187.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2019.02.020

- Luengo, E., Álvarez, I., & Raso, J. (2014). Improving carotenoid extraction from tomato waste by pulsed electric fields. *Frontiers in Nutrition*, 1, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNUT.2014.00012
- Mantanis, G. I., Young, R. A., & Rowell, R. M. (1994). Swelling of wood part 1. swelling in water. Wood Science and Technology, 28(2), 119–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00192691
- Materna, K., & Szymanowski, J. (2002). Separation of phenols from aqueous micellar solutions by cloud point extraction. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 255(1), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1006/jcis.2002.8613
- Naviglio, D., Pizzolongo, F., Ferrara, L., Aragòn, A., & Santini, A. (2008). Extraction of pure lycopene from industrial tomato by-products in water using a new high-pressure process. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 88(14), 2414–2420. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.3334
- Omoni, A. O., & Aluko, R. E. (2005). The anti-carcinogenic and anti-atherogenic effects of lycopene: a review. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 16(8), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2005.02.002
- Papaioannou, E. H., & Karabelas, A. J. (2012). Lycopene recovery from tomato peel under mild conditions assisted by enzymatic pre-treatment and non-ionic surfactants. *Acta Biochimica Polonica*, 59(1), 71–74. https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2012_2174
- Pinela, J., Prieto, M. A., Barreiro, M. F., Carvalho, A. M., Oliveira, M. B. P. P., Curran, T. P., &

Ferreira, I. C. F. R. (2017). Valorisation of tomato wastes for development of nutrient-rich antioxidant ingredients: a sustainable approach towards the needs of the today's society. *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 41, 160–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IFSET.2017.02.004

- Prusov, A. N., Prusova, S. M., & Zakharov, A. G. (2014). Interaction of cellulose and lignocellulosic polymers with water and aqueous systems. *Russian Chemical Bulletin*, 63(9), 1926–1945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11172-014-0683-7
- Przybylska, S. (2020). Lycopene a bioactive carotenoid offering multiple health benefits: a review. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 55(1), 11–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.14260
- Radi, M., & Abbasi, S. (2018). Optimization of novel oil extraction technique from canola seeds: lecithin-based microemulsion. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 120(4), 1700267. https://doi.org/10.1002/EJLT.201700267
- Rao, A. V., & Agarwal, S. (2000). Role of antioxidant lycopene in cancer and heart disease. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 19(5), 563–569.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2000.10718953
- Rao, A. V, & Agarwal, S. (1999). Role of lycopene as antioxidant carotenoid in the prevention of chronic diseases: a review. *In Nutrition Research* (Vol. 19, Issue 2).
- Roohinejad, S. (2014). Extraction of β-carotene from carrot pomace using microemulsions and pulsed electric fields. https://ourarchive.otago.ac.nz/handle/10523/5098

- Rowles III, J., Ranard, K., Smith, J., An, R., & Erdman Jr, J. (2017). Increased dietary and circulating lycopene are associated with reduced prostate cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prostate Cancer and Prostatic Diseases*, 20, 361–377. https://doi.org/10.1038/pcan.2017.25
- Sang Cho, K., Shin, M., Kim, S., & Bae Lee, S. (2018). Review article recent advances in studies on the therapeutic potential of dietary carotenoids in neurodegenerative diseases. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4120458
- Senkus, K. E., Tan, L., & Crowe-White, K. M. (2018). Lycopene and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review of the literature. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmy069
- Shen, Q., Zhang, B., Xu, R., Wang, Y., Ding, X., & Li, P. (2010). Antioxidant activity in vitro of the selenium-contained protein from the se-enriched bifidobacterium animalis 01. *Anaerobe*, 16(4), 380–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2010.06.006
- Shi, J., Maguer, M. Le, Kakuda, Y., Liptay, A., & Niekamp, F. (1999). Lycopene degradation and isomerization in tomato dehydration. *Food Research International*, 32(1), 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(99)00059-9
- Soares Melecchi, M. I., Péres, V. F., Dariva, C., Zini, C. A., Abad, F. C., Martinez, M. M., & Caramão, E. B. (2006). Optimization of the sonication extraction method of Hibiscus tiliaceus L. flowers. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 13(3), 242–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2005.02.003
- Trejo-Solís, C., Pedraza-Chaverrí, J., Torres-Ramos, M., Jiménez-Farfán, D., Salgado, A. C., Serrano-García, N., Osorio-Rico, L., & Sotelo, J. (2013). Review article multiple molecular
and cellular mechanisms of action of lycopene in cancer inhibition. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2013, 17. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/705121

- Tsatsaronis, G. C., & Boskou, D. G. (1975). Amino acid and mineral salt content of tomato seed and skin waste. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 26(4), 421–423. https://doi.org/10.1002/JSFA.2740260406
- Tsogtoo, B., Taarji, N., Melanie, H., Khalid, N., Tsolmon, S., Kobayashi, I., Neves, M. A., & Nakajima, M. (2020). Emulsion-based extraction of β-sitosterol and carotenoids from sea buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides) pomace. *International Food Research Journal*, 27(1), 56–65.
- Tsushima, M., Maoka, T., Katsuyama, M., Kozuka, M., Matsuno, T., Tokuda, H., Iwashima, A., & Nishino, H. (1995). Inhibitory effect of natural carotenoids on epstein-barr virus activation activity of a tumor promoter in raji cells. a screening study for anti-tumor promoters. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 18(2), 227–233. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.18.227
- Wang, Y., Xiao, Y., Fang, J., & Xu, Q. (2015). Effect of carotene and lycopene on the risk of prostate cancer: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137427
- Yamaguchi, M., & Uchiyama, S. (2003). Effect of carotenoid on calcium content and alkaline phosphatase activity in rat femoral tissues in vitro: the unique anabolic effect of β-cryptoxanthin. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 26(8), 1188–1191.
 https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.26.1188

- Yan, K. P., Hao, J., Dan, N., & Chen, C. (2008). A simple and improved method for extraction of phospholipids from hemoglobin solutions. *Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, and Biotechnology*, 36(1), 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/10731190701857751
- Zefferino, R., Piccoli, C., Di Gioia, S., Capitanio, N., & Conese, M. (2019). Gap junction intercellular communication in the carcinogenesis hallmarks: is this a phenomenon or epiphenomenon? *Cells*.https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8080896
- Zhang, L. X., Cooney, R. V., & Bertram, J. S. (1991). Carotenoids enhance gap junctional communication and inhibit lipid peroxidation in C3H/10T1/2 cells: relationship to their cancer chemopreventive action. *Carcinogenesis*, 12(11), 2109–2114. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/12.11.2109
- Zuorro, A. (2020). Enhanced lycopene extraction from tomato peels by optimized mixed-polarity solvent mixtures. *Molecules*, 25(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25092038
- Zuorro, A., Fidaleo, M., & Lavecchia, R. (2011). Enzyme-assisted extraction of lycopene from tomato processing waste. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 49(6–7), 567–573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2011.04.020

List of publication

1. **Kubra KHADIZATUL**, Samar ELSHAMY, Noamane TAARJI, Md Sohanur Rahman SOHAN, Isao KOBAYASHI, Mitsutoshi NAKAJIMA, and Marcos A. NEVES, Revisiting lycopene extraction: Caprylic acid-based emulsion for the highest recovery. Journal of Food Science and Technology, 2022, DOI: 10.1007/s13197-022-05522-0

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to the most powerful almighty Allah, who gives me patience, strength, unconditional love, and good health to face all kinds of challenges and struggles during my PhD research work.

Next, to my sensei's Prof. Mitsutoshi Nakajima and Prof. Marcos Antonio das Neves, for their continuous support, patience, motivation, and immense knowledge of my PhD study and related research, their guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. Besides my advisor, I would like to thank Dr. Isao Kobayashi, Food Research Institute (FRI), Nakajima's Laboratory staff, researcher, and laboratory friends, for their insightful help, comments, and encouragement, but also for the hard question which incented me to widen my research from various perspectives. I am very grateful to them, because, without their precious support it would not be possible to conduct this research.

Last but not the least; I would like to thank my family: my parents, my husband U A Md Ehsan Ali, my brothers and friends for supporting and encouraging me spiritually throughout writing this thesis and my life in general.

In conclusion, thank you so much everyone for your utmost support and assistance during my research work.